

## Review and Correspondence History

1. Article submission to Pharmacia (2 April 2024)
2. Revision: requested by Reviewer A (3 Juli 2024)
3. Revision: requested by Reviewer B (8 Juli 2024)
4. Minor Revision: requested by Editor (16 Juli 2024)
5. Paper Accepted for Publication (17 Juli 2024)

1. Article submission to Pharmacia (2 April 2024)

---

**[Pharmaciana] Submission Acknowledgement**

1 pesan

---

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id>  
Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari <yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id>

2 April 2024 pukul 18.40

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

Thank you for submitting the manuscript, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study" to Pharmaciana. With the online journal management system that we are using, you will be able to track its progress through the editorial process by logging in to the journal web site:

Manuscript URL:

<http://journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/PHARMACIANA/author/submission/28653>

Username: yrnuari

If you have any questions, please contact me. Thank you for considering this journal as a venue for your work.

Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si  
Pharmaciana

---

Pharmaciana<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

2. Revision: requested by Reviewer A (3 Juli 2024)

---

**[Pharmaciana] Editor Decision**

1 pesan

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id>

3 Juli 2024 pukul 09.00

Balas Ke: "apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si" &lt;citra.arianie@gmail.com&gt;

Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari &lt;yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id&gt;

Cc: Mila Abusri &lt;mila2100023042@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Wahyu Yuntari &lt;wahyu2100023141@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Oca Maharani Tryadi &lt;oca2100023140@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana &lt;fiarriescha2100023190@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Pharmaciana, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study".

Our decision is revisions required based on Reviewer A's file and comments.  
Thank you

apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si  
Fakultas Farmasi, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Phone 0811267390  
[citra.arianie@gmail.com](mailto:citra.arianie@gmail.com)

-----  
Reviewer A:

Does the paper contain an original contribution to the field?:

Yes

Is the paper technically sound?:

Yes

Does the title of the paper accurately reflect the major focus contribution of this paper?:

Yes

Please suggest change of the title as appropriate (if any):

Is the abstract a clear description of the paper?:

Yes

Is the paper well written (clear, concise, and well organized)?:

Yes

Are the equations, figures and tables in this journal style, clear, relevant, and are the captions adequate?:

Yes

Please score the paper on a scale of 0 - 10 as per the directions below:

:

7-8 Good

Please write down your suggestion to improve this manuscript:

Please find the comments in the attachment

-----  
Pharmaciana<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

## Effects of *Piper crocatum* Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study

Yudha Rizky Nuari\*, Mila Abusri, Wahyu Yuntari, Oca Maharani Tryadi,  
Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana (12pt)

Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan

Jl. Prof. Dr. Soepomo, S.H., Janturan, Warungboto, Umbulharjo, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Submitted : ..... Reviewed : ..... Accepted:.....

### ABSTRACT (11pt, spasi 1)

Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose control are highly susceptible to developing secondary infections, which can lead to the development of prolonged diabetic ulcers. Therefore, a suitable medication that may effectively prevent the occurrence of secondary infections is crucial to shorten the closure of diabetic ulcers. Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) reportedly possesses antimicrobial activity due to the presence of flavonoids. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) ointments against the most prevalent bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcers (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL was prepared by macerating powdered red betel leaf with 96% ethanol and was screened for the presence of flavonoids and the determination of total flavonoid content (TFC) by thin layer chromatography and UV-Vis spectrophotometry, respectively. This study examined three hydrophilic-based ointments containing 10%, 20%, and 30% EERBL, respectively, followed by characterization for pH, spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity. The EERBL ointments' effect on the bacteria was evaluated using the well-diffusion method by observing inhibition zone formation after 24-hour incubation. The results showed that varying the EERBL concentrations in the formulations led to different spreadability, stickiness and viscosity ( $p < 0.05$ ). Furthermore, all EERBL ointments demonstrated the formation of an inhibition zone on cultured media, indicating the presence of antimicrobial activity. The ointment with 30% EERBL had the largest diameter of the inhibition zone against both bacteria ( $p < 0.05$ ). The findings suggest enhanced antimicrobial activity was observed with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments.

**Keywords:** Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum*), flavonoids, ointment formulation, antimicrobial activity, diabetic ulcers

---

#### \*Corresponding author:

Yudha Rizky Nuari  
Department of Pharmaceutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Jl. Prof. Dr. Soepomo, S.H., Janturan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia  
Email: yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id

## INTRODUCTION (11pt)

Indonesia had a diabetes prevalence of approximately 11 million patients living with the condition in 2021, placing it among the top ten countries worldwide with the highest occurrence of the disease (Hidayat et al., 2022; Tanoey & Becher, 2021). Diabetes is a chronically persistent disease that ranked as the third leading cause of mortality in Indonesia, as reported in 2017 (Hidayat et al., 2022). Inadequate management and poorly controlled diabetes over a long period can result in several severe complications, such as macroangiopathy, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and diabetic neuropathy, including diabetic foot ulcers (Beulens et al., 2021; Farmaki et al., 2020).

Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU) is considered the most severe complication of diabetes mellitus that is linked to significant illness, death, and a decrease in quality of life, which continues to increase in prevalence over time (Cho et al., 2018). A diabetic foot ulcer is described as a deep wound located below the ankle in individuals with diabetes and may lead to a devastating long-term complication of non-traumatic lower limb amputation, especially in diabetic patients with poorly managed, chronically infected diabetic foot ulcers (Jupiter et al., 2016). Patients diagnosed with diabetes have a one-fourth probability of developing Diabetic Foot Ulcers (DFU) during the course of their lives, and the prevalence of DFU-related amputation is virtually every half minute globally (Chammas et al., 2016). Diabetic foot ulcers (DFU) are a prevalent reason for hospitalization among diabetic patients and have a notable socioeconomic effect (Ha et al., 2021). Patients with DFU experience a mortality rate that is more than double that of diabetic patients without ulcers, with approximately 40% of the five-year mortality rates after ulceration (Jupiter et al., 2016; Rubio et al., 2020). Additionally, the DFU and its long-term consequences are responsible for both direct healthcare expenses and extended periods of disability (Ha et al., 2021; Rubio et al., 2020).

Diabetic patients with ulcers are susceptible to developing secondary infections DFU due to delayed wound healing (Matheson et al., 2021; Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, and gram-negative bacteria, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, are the most responsible colonies that cause secondary infections in DFU, as observed from the bacterial cultures of patient samples globally (Datta et al., 2019; Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). These bacteria on the surface wound create a favourable niche for further invasion, resulting in chronic infected DFU (Li et al., 2022). This infection increases the likelihood of multi-drug resistance and ultimately prolongs the wound-healing process (Datta et al., 2019; Yan et al., 2022).

*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav (*P. crocatum*), or red betel, is a well-known traditional herbal remedy from Indonesia (Setyawati et al., 2023). This easily cultivated plant is readily available, and its leaf has been traditionally and empirically used as herbal medicine to treat wounds for generations in Indonesia (Suri et al., 2021). According to numerous studies, red betel leaves are composed of tannins, polyphenols, saponins, and flavonoids (Setyawati et al., 2021; Suri et al., 2021). In addition, flavonoids reportedly exhibit antibacterial properties and may serve as a viable alternative source of treatment for infections manifest in diabetic ulcers (Ibrahim et al., 2018).

The current study focuses on formulating and characterizing topical ointments containing ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) using a hydrophilic ointment base with variations of EERBL concentrations of 10%, 20% and 30% b/b. The aim of this study is to assess the effects of the EERBL ointments against the two most prevalent DFU-associated bacteria, namely *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, as compared to positive control (mupirocin topical cream) and placebo (the ointment base). Ultimately, the EERBL ointment with the largest inhibitory zone diameter, which signifies antimicrobial activity, will be selected for further in vivo investigation using diabetic animal models in future experiments.

**Commented [a1]:** Please add background regarding the choice of ointment as the dosage form for this extract. Also add several references related to the advantages of ointments compared to other dosage forms

## MATERIALS AND METHOD (11pt)

### Materials

*Piper crocatum* (red betel leaves) obtained from Bantul, ethanol 96% (Merck®), toluene (Merck®), methyl paraben (PT Brataco), propyl paraben (PT Brataco), sodium lauryl sulphate (Sigma Aldrich®), propyleneglycol (Sigma Aldrich®), stearyl alcohol (PT Brataco), vaseline (PT Brataco), distilled water (PT Widatra), quercetin standard (Sigma Aldrich®), ethyl acetate (Merck®), formic acid (Merck®), silica gel 60 254 (Merck®), AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Merck®), FeCl<sub>3</sub> (Merck®), Na-acetate (Merck®), Dragendorff reagent (Sigma Aldrich®), Mayer's reagent (Labchem), nutrient broth (Oxoid), Mueller Hinton agar (Oxoid), NaCl 0.9% (Otsuka), NaOH (Merck®), HCl (Merck®), Mupirocin ointment (PT Etercon Pharma), *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853). Rotary evaporator (Heidolph), Biosafety Cabinet (Monmouth), Waterbath (Memmerth), Autoclave (Hirayama), Rheosys Merlin VRII (Scientex), UV-Vis Spectrophotometry (Shimadzu), Glassware (Pyrex).

### Methods

#### Sample Preparation

The sample of red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) was collected from Bantul and was initially subjected to a determination test (ID no:142/Lab.Bio/B/III/2024) at the Biology Laboratory, Faculty of Applied Science and Technology, the University of Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. The red betel leaves were wet-sorted and rinsed to remove dirt and dust by flowing water before being dried at room temperature. The dried leaves were then blended and milled into small pieces and fine powder (Safithri et al., 2023).

#### Extract Preparation and Characterization

Ethanol extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) was prepared by weighing the powdered red betel leaves for 350 g and was macerated using 1400 ml of 96% ethanol in a glass jar for 24 hours with occasional stirring. After 24 hours, the filtrate and the residue were separated; the latter was re-macerated for another 24 hours with a similar protocol for two rounds. The filtrates from maceration and re-maceration were then collected and evaporated for one hour at 60°C in a rotary evaporator. Following this, the filtrates were then dried on a waterbath until a viscous extract was observed (Navirius et al., 2023; Puspita et al., 2019). The crude extracts were afterwards characterized for organoleptic properties, % yield and water content by the toluene distillation method with the following equation (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Water Content (\%)} = \frac{\text{Water volume (ml)} \times 1 \text{ gram/ml}}{\text{Sample weight (gram)}} \times 100\% \quad \dots\dots\dots(1)$$

#### Phytochemical Screening

Phytochemical screening tests were performed on the concentrated EERBL for flavonoids, alkaloids, saponin, tannin, triterpenoids, and steroids by means of tube tests (Puspita et al., 2019). In addition, thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was employed to ensure the presence of flavonoids within the ethanolic extracts. A mixture of toluene P, ethyl acetate P, and formic acid P (7:2.5:0.5) was used as a mobile phase while a silica gel 60 F254 was used as a stationary phase (Kemenkes RI, 2017).

#### Determination of Total Flavonoid Content

Total flavonoid content was determined by UV-Vis spectrophotometry using a quercetin standard. The standard solutions were prepared at 5, 10, 25, 50, 75, and 100 mg/L dissolved in ethanol with the addition of 0.1 ml of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> and 1 ml of 1M Na-acetate prior to measurement at a wavelength of 438 nm. For sample analysis, 0.5 ml of each concentrated ethanolic extract was added with 1.5 ml of ethanol, 0.1 ml of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub>, and 1 ml of 1M Na-acetate and was read at the

*Judul manuskrip (Penulis pertama)*

**Commented [a2]:** Please write the materials in sentences.

For instance, Methyl paraben, propyl paraben, stearyl alcohol and vaseline were originated from PT Brataco.

**Commented [a3]:** It is not necessary to write the devices in the materials section.....so please delete it.

Just write each device in the methods section after a description of the method



same wavelength as the standards (Nerdy et al., 2022). The flavonoid content was calculated and expressed as quercetin equivalent (mg QE/g) with the following equation (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Total Flavonoid Content (TFC)} = \frac{C_p \times \frac{A_u}{A_p} \times V \times f}{W} \times 100\% \dots\dots\dots(2)$$

- C<sub>p</sub> = concentration of standard solution  
 A<sub>u</sub> = absorbance of sample  
 A<sub>p</sub> = absorbance of standard solution  
 V = volume of standard solution before dilution  
 f = dilution factor of standard solution  
 W = weight of sample

**Commented [a4]:** This should be volume of sample solution.

#### Preparation of Ointment of Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL Ointment)

An ointment is generally a favorable topical preparation for wound treatment. In this study, the EERBL ointments were prepared through a melting method. Firstly, methylparaben, propylene glycol, sodium lauryl sulfate, and water were homogeneously mixed in an evaporating porcelain dish and heated at 60°C until completely melted; this mixture was referred to as mixture one. Additionally, a second mixture consisting of vaseline, propylparaben, and stearyl alcohol was prepared and subjected to the same temperature as the previous mixture; this mixture was considered mixture two. Subsequently, mixture one was introduced into mixture two; both mixtures were constantly stirred until an ointment was formed and transferred into a container (USP, 2007). All ointments were prepared according to the following formulas (Table 1).

**Commented [a5]:** The temperature of 60°C is too low to completely melt methylparaben, since the melting point of methyl paraben is above 100 ° C. Therefore, please revise the words "completely melt;"

**Commented [a6]:** Did you use any special tools to stir the mixture? Please explain in detail the equipment used and mixing conditions such as stirring speed and mixing time

**Commented [a7]:** Please replace the term "formula" to "formulation"  
Please also check in entire manuscript

**Table I. Formulas of ointments evaluated in this study**

Ingredients	Ointment Formula (gram)		
	F1	F2	F3
Ethanolic extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL)	10	20	30
Methyl paraben	0,025	0,025	0,025
Propyl paraben	0,015	0,015	0,015
Sodium Lauryl Sulfate	0,7	0,7	0,7
Propyleneglycol	8,5	8,5	8,5
Stearyl alcohol	15	15	15
Vaseline	20	20	20
Aquadest (distilled water)	ad 100	ad 100	ad 100

#### Characterization of Ointment

The EERBL ointments were subjected to characterization for pH, spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity (Maulina & Sugihartini, 2015). The viscosity test was carried out using Rheosys Merlin VRII.

#### Antibacterial Activity

Nutrient Broth (NB) media were used to propagate pure cultures of DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853). The cultured media were placed into an incubator for 24-hour incubation. Following this, 0.9% NaCl was mixed with bacterial cultures on the NB media, and the level of turbidity was standardized using Mc Farland 0.5. The standardized turbidity level bacterial cultures were uniformly swabbed on the surface of a Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) media and allowed to sit for 5 minutes. The antibacterial activity assay was performed by means of the well-diffusion method by filling the reservoirs in the MHA media with the ointments (F1, F2, and F3), mupirocin ointment (positive

control) and placebo (ointment base only). The MHA media was incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. After incubation, a calliper was used to measure the formation of the inhibition zone diameter (Balouiri et al., 2016; Blando et al., 2019; Puspita et al., 2019).

#### Data Analysis

The data collected from this study were statistically analyzed utilizing the one-way ANOVA and the Tukey test with a significance level of  $p < 0.05$ .

### RESULT AND DISCUSSION (11pt)

#### Characterization of EERBL

The concentrated ethanolic extract of red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) (EERBL) was subjected to characterization, including organoleptic properties, % yield, and water content. The crude extracts were observed as a thick, dark brown-reddish-colored extract with a bitter flavor and typical aroma of red betel leaf (Figure 1). Furthermore, the total weight of the crude concentrated EERBL was 98.12 grams from 350 grams of powdered red betel leaf used, resulting in a yield of 28.03%. Subsequently, the water content was also determined to ensure the risk of potential bacterial or microorganism growth during the storage is low, thereby not affecting the quality and safety of the product. The water content was  $7.51\% \pm 0.286$ , as determined by the toluene distillation method (Kemenkes RI, 2017). All these evaluated characteristics were in line with the compendial criteria suggested in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II and are presented in Table II.

Table II. Attributes of crude ethanolic extract derived from red betel leaves

Parameter	Result	Requirement*
Color	Dark brown-reddish	Dark brown-reddish
Taste	Bitter	Bitter
Odor	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf
Yield	28.03%	> 17%
Water Content	$7.51\% \pm 0.286^{**}$	< 10%

\*Compendial requirement as described in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II for red betel leaf extract

\*\*data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3)

#### Phytochemical Screening & Total Flavonoid Content

Preliminary phytochemical screenings were performed on the extracts prior to ointment preparations (Puspita et al., 2019). According to the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II, the red betel leaf extract is supposed to contain flavonoids considered as quercetin (Kemenkes RI, 2017). The results suggest the presence of flavonoids, alkaloids, phenols, steroids, triterpenoids, and tannins with an absence of saponins in the extracts as screened through the tube tests (Table III). In addition, a thin-layer chromatography test on the extract was also performed to ensure the flavonoid content as compared to the quercetin standard (Figure 1) (Kemenkes RI, 2017). Ultimately, total flavonoid content (TFC) in EERBL was also determined via UV-Vis spectrophotometry using a quercetin standard with a result of  $78.14 \pm 7.63$  mg QE/g (n=5).



Figure 1. Thin layer chromatography analysis of quercetin standard (A) vs extract sample (B) with identical Rf values, suggesting the presence of flavonoid quercetin in the ethanolic extract

Judul manuskrip (Penulis pertama)

**Table III. Preliminary Phytochemical Screenings on the Red Betel Leaf Ethanolic Extracts**

Secondary Metabolite	Test	Result
Flavonoids	Bate Smite-Metcalfé's test	+
	NaOH 10%	+
Alkaloids	Deagendorff's test	+
	Mayer's test	+
Saponins	Frothing test	-
Tannins	Ferric Chloride test	+
Triterpenoids	Liebermann's test	+
Steroids	Liebermann's test	+
Phenols	Ferric Chloride test	+

Key = + present, - absent

### Preparation and Characterization of Ointment

Three different formulas were employed for preparing the hydrophilic-based ointments with variations on the concentration of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL): 10%, 20%, and 30%, respectively. A hydrophilic base was selected as the ointment base due to its ability to facilitate good absorption while providing optimum viscosity for better spreadability and stickiness to the skin upon application (Shigeyama et al., 1999).

After preparation, the EERBL ointments were first characterized for pH by mixing 2.5 grams of the ointment with 50 ml of aquadest. The mixture was then heated up to 60-70°C until homogeneously mixed, following measurement with a digital pH meter. The measured pH of the ointments ranged between 4.81 to 5.28. In addition, the spreadability and stickiness of the ointment were also evaluated. The former was done by applying 0.5 grams of the ointments onto a round glass plate, with a second glass plate was placed on top of it. A weight of 100 grams was allowed to remain on the top glass plate for 1 minute. The diameter of the circle was measured after the ointment was widely spread. The latter was conducted by placing 1 gram of the ointment on a glass plate that was subsequently covered with another glass plate, with a weight of 1 kg was added on top of it for 5 minutes. Afterward, the squeezed glass was released, and the sticky power was measured using a stopwatch. The spreadability of the ointments was at 4.65 to 5.20, while the stickiness ranged from 32 to 63 seconds among the three formulas, respectively. Ultimately, the viscosity of the ointments was also evaluated using Rheosys Merlin VR11. The data of the ointment's characterization is presented in Table IV below.

**Table IV. Characterization Data of the EERBL Ointments**

Parameter	F1	F2	F3
pH	4.81 ± 0.14 <sup>a</sup>	5.12 ± 0.21 <sup>ab</sup>	5.28 ± 0.18 <sup>b</sup>
Spreadability (cm)	5.52 ± 0.24 <sup>a</sup>	4.89 ± 0.19 <sup>b</sup>	4.37 ± 0.19 <sup>c</sup>
Stickiness (seconds)	32.43 ± 1.8 <sup>a</sup>	54.18 ± 2.6 <sup>b</sup>	63.71 ± 1.4 <sup>c</sup>
Viscosity (cP)	8367 ± 373 <sup>a</sup>	10,453 ± 910 <sup>b</sup>	13,551 ± 794 <sup>c</sup>

Key: EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf; data are shown as mean ± SD (n=3); values within a row with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test (p < 0.05).

From Table IV, the pH of the ointments met the criteria of the ideal pH ointment for human skin, which is 4.5-6.5. For spreadability, Formula 1 showed the highest value with an average spread of 5.22 cm, while for the stickiness parameter, Formula 3 had the longest adherence with 63.71 seconds, slightly longer than Formula 2. The same trend was also observed in the viscosity, where Formula 3 demonstrated the most viscous ointment with 11,851 cP. The viscosity of all groups was still within the range of compendial viscosity for an ointment, which is around 2000 to

**Commented [a8]:** This is a method.....please don't repeat the method in the results and discussion section. In this section just explain and discuss about the results.

**Commented [a9]:** This is also method....please remove it.

50,000 cP (Anonim, 2020). Consistency of the ointments might be responsible for these findings since the ratio between aqueous and non-aqueous components determines the liquidity of the ointments, which affects the spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity (Conti-Silva et al., 2018; Herbig et al., 2023). Of the three formulas, Formula 1 contains the highest amount of water within its formula, while Formula 3 was the opposite. This implies that Formula 1 became easily spread ointment while Formula 3 was the stickiest and most viscous ointment. Despite these results, all the parameters above follow the ideal criteria for ointments.

### Antibacterial Activity

The antibacterial activity of the EERBL ointments was evaluated by means of determining the inhibition zone diameter on the two most common bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcer (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). Mupirocin ointment was used as a positive control as it is widely used clinically as a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic for ulcers (Dallo et al., 2023; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). The diameter zone of inhibition was examined using the well-diffusion method. Data on the diameter of the inhibition zone is displayed in Table V below.

**Table V. Inhibition Zone Diameter of the EERBL Ointments**

Formula	Diameter of Inhibition Zone (cm)	
	<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>	<i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>
F1 (10% EERBL)	10.4 ± 0.60 <sup>a</sup>	8.1 ± 0.40 <sup>a</sup>
F2 (20% EERBL)	12.6 ± 0.63 <sup>b</sup>	9.8 ± 0.35 <sup>b</sup>
F3 (30% EERBL)	14.8 ± 0.98 <sup>c</sup>	12.7 ± 0.55 <sup>c</sup>
Positive Control*	36.4 ± 0.65 <sup>d</sup>	32.1 ± 0.93 <sup>d</sup>
Placebo**	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>

Key = EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaves; \*Mupirocin cream; \*\*ointment base only;

Data are shown as mean ± SD (n=3); values within a column with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test ( $p < 0.05$ ).

The antimicrobial activity in this study was evaluated by the ability to form an inhibition zone in the cultured media after 24-hour incubation. As depicted in Table V, all placebo groups - containing only ointment base - showed no inhibitory activity, while positive controls exhibited the largest inhibition zone diameter in both groups. This is reasonable since mupirocin is a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic that can clinically constrain a wide range of bacterial growth by blocking bacterial RNA and protein synthesis, including Gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and Gram-negative *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Dallo et al., 2023; Erwin DZ, 2024; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). In addition, the formation of an inhibition zone was observed in all EERBL ointment groups, with Formula 3 having the largest diameter among these groups against both bacteria. Even though the magnitude of the constrained activity was approximately a third lower than that of the control group, all EERBL ointments (10-30%) were able to exert antimicrobial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, the most common bacteria isolated from diabetic foot ulcer samples. The statistical analysis of ANOVA and Tukey test revealed that all groups were significantly different ( $p < 0.05$ ).

As shown in Table V, the antimicrobial activity is enhanced with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments. Such inhibition activity is likely due to the flavonoid content of EERBL in the EERBL ointments. These results are in agreement with other studies that report similar findings (Hartini & Nugroho, 2020; Juliantina Rachmawaty et al., 2018; Puspita et al., 2019). Flavonoids are effectively able to affect bacterial cell membrane integrity and biofilm formation, leading to bacterial growth suppression (Heliawati et al., 2022; Kaul et al., 2013; Puspita et al., 2019; Shamsudin et al., 2022).

**Commented [a10]:** Please add references stating that these bacteria are the bacteria that most often infect ulcers.

**CONCLUSION (11pt)**

The EERBL ointments exhibit antimicrobial activity by forming an inhibitory zone against DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL ointment from Formula 3 - with 30% EERBL content - provides the second-largest inhibition zone diameter after the control group. Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose management are at high risk of acquiring secondary infections that may delay wound closure. Such delay in wound healing may develop minor injuries into diabetic ulcers if not properly treated. Regarding this, therefore, the EERBL ointment is likely to be developed as a candidate for DFU topical treatment as it exerts flavonoid-related antimicrobial activity that may prevent secondary infection, leading to shortened closure of DFU. However, further experiments are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the EERBL ointment for DFU in diabetic animal models.

**ACKNOWLEDGEMENT (11pt)**

The authors sincerely thank the Institute for Research and Community Service of Universitas Ahmad Dahlan (LPPM-UAD) for providing financial support to this research with reference number PD-064/SP3/LPPM-UAD/VIII/2023.

**REFERENCES (11pt)**

- Anonim. (2020). *Farmakope Indonesia Edisi VI*. Kemenkes RI.
- Balouiri, M., Sadiki, M., & Ibsouda, S. K. (2016). Methods for in vitro evaluating antimicrobial activity: A review. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis*, 6(2), 71–79. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpha.2015.11.005>
- Beulens, J. W. J., Yauw, J. S., Elders, P. J. M., Feenstra, T., Herings, R., Sliker, R. C., Moons, K. G. M., Nijpels, G., & van der Heijden, A. A. (2021). Prognostic models for predicting the risk of foot ulcer or amputation in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and external validation study. *Diabetologia*, 64(7), 1550–1562.
- Blando, F., Russo, R., Negro, C., De Bellis, L., & Frassinetti, S. (2019). Antimicrobial and Antibiofilm Activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. Cladode Polyphenolic Extracts. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8(5). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8050117>
- Chammas, N. K., Hill, R. L. R., & Edmonds, M. E. (2016). Increased Mortality in Diabetic Foot Ulcer Patients: The Significance of Ulcer Type. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016, 2879809. <https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2879809>
- Cho, N. H., Shaw, J. E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Ohlrogge, A. W., & Malanda, B. (2018). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 138, 271–281. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023>
- Conti-Silva, A. C., Ichiba, A. K. T., Silveira, A. L. da, Albano, K. M., & Nicoletti, V. R. (2018). Viscosity of liquid and semisolid materials: Establishing correlations between instrumental analyses and sensory characteristics. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 49(6), 569–577. <https://doi.org/10.1111/jtxs.12358>
- Dallo, M., Patel, K., & Hebert, A. A. (2023). Topical Antibiotic Treatment in Dermatology. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 12(2). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12020188>
- Datta, P., Chander, J., Gupta, V., Mohi, G. K., & Attri, A. K. (2019). Evaluation of various risk factors associated with multidrug-resistant organisms isolated from diabetic foot ulcer patients. *Journal of Laboratory Physicians*, 11(1), 58–62. [https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP\\_106\\_18](https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP_106_18)
- Erwin DZ, C. P. (2024). Mupirocin. [Updated 2024 Jan 11]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan. In *StatPearls*. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK599499/>

- Farmaki, P., Damaskos, C., Garmpis, N., Garmpi, A., Savvanis, S., & Diamantis, E. (2020). Complications of the Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, 16(4), 249–251. <https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X1604201229115531>
- Ha, J. H., Jin, H., & Park, J.-U. (2021). Association between socioeconomic position and diabetic foot ulcer outcomes: a population-based cohort study in South Korea. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1395. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11406-3>
- Hartini, Y. S., & Nugroho, L. H. (2020). Antibacterial effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) extract in combination with vancomycin against staphylococcus aureus. *Biodiversitas*, 21(7), 3271–3274. <https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d210750>
- Heliawati, L., Lestari, S., Hasanah, U., Ajiati, D., & Kurnia, D. (2022). Phytochemical Profile of Antibacterial Agents from Red Betel Leaf (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz and Pav) against Bacteria in Dental Caries. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27092861>
- Herbig, M. E., Evers, D.-H., Gorissen, S., & Köllmer, M. (2023). Rational Design of Topical Semi-Solid Dosage Forms-How Far Are We? *Pharmaceutics*, 15(7). <https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics15071822>
- Hidayat, B., Ramadani, R. V., Rudijanto, A., Soewondo, P., Suastika, K., & Siu Ng, J. Y. (2022). Direct Medical Cost of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Its Associated Complications in Indonesia. *Value in Health Regional Issues*, 28, 82–89. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vhri.2021.04.006>
- Ibrahim, N., 'Izzah, Wong, S. K., Mohamed, I. N., Mohamed, N., Chin, K.-Y., Ima-Nirwana, S., & Shuid, A. N. (2018). Wound Healing Properties of Selected Natural Products. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15112360>
- Ishikawa, J., & Horii, T. (2005). Effects of Mupirocin at Subinhibitory Concentrations on Biofilm Formation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Chemotherapy*, 51(6), 361–362. <https://doi.org/10.1159/000088962>
- Juliantina Rachmawaty, F., Mahardika Akhmad, M., Hikmah Pranacipta, S., Nabila, Z., & Muhammad, A. (2018). Optimasi Ekstrak Etanol Daun Sirih Merah (*Piper Crocatum*) sebagai Antibakteri terhadap Bakteri *Staphylococcus Aureus*. *Mutiara Medika: Jurnal Kedokteran Dan Kesehatan*, 18(1), 13–19. <https://doi.org/10.18196/mm.180109>
- Jupiter, D. C., Thorud, J. C., Buckley, C. J., & Shibuya, N. (2016). The impact of foot ulceration and amputation on mortality in diabetic patients. I: From ulceration to death, a systematic review. *International Wound Journal*, 13(5), 892–903. <https://doi.org/10.1111/iwj.12404>
- Kaul, K., Tarr, J. M., Ahmad, S. I., Kohner, E. M., & Chibber, R. (2013). *Introduction to Diabetes Mellitus BT - Diabetes: An Old Disease, a New Insight* (S. I. Ahmad (ed.); pp. 1–11). Springer New York. [https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0\\_1](https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0_1)
- Kemenkes RI. (2017). *Farmakope Herbal Indonesia Edisi 2*. 561.
- Li, Y., Ju, S., Li, X., Li, W., Zhou, S., Wang, G., Cai, Y., & Dong, Z. (2022). Characterization of the microenvironment of diabetic foot ulcers and potential drug identification based on scRNA-seq. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 13, 997880. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.997880>
- Matheson, E. M., Bragg, S. W., & Blackwelder, R. S. (2021). Diabetes-Related Foot Infections: Diagnosis and Treatment. *American Family Physician*, 104(4), 386–394.
- Maulina, L., & Sugihartini, N. (2015). FORMULASI GEL EKSTRAK ETANOL KULIT BUAH MANGGIS (*Garcinia mangostana* L.) DENGAN VARIASI GELLING AGENT SEBAGAI SEDIAAN LUKA BAKAR. *Pharmaciana*, 5(1), 43–52. <https://doi.org/10.12928/pharmaciana.v5i1.2285>
- Navirius, F. J., Pamudji, G., & Herowati, R. (2023). Effect of Red Betel (*Piper crocatum*) Leaf Ethanol Extract On Increased Creatinine and Ureum Levels In White Rat Wistar Strain Induced Streptozotosin-Nikotinamid. *Media Farmasi: Jurnal Ilmu Farmasi*, 20(2), 57.

- <https://doi.org/10.12928/mf.v20i2.25457>
- Nerdy, N., Barus, B. R., El-Maturity, H. J., Ginting, S., Zebua, N. F., & Bakri, T. K. (2022). Comparison of flavonoid content and antioxidant activity in calyces of two roselle varieties (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 956(1). <https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/956/1/012001>
- Puspita, P. J., Safithri, M., & Sugiharti, N. P. (2019). Antibacterial Activities of Sirih Merah (*Piper crocatum*) Leaf Extracts. *Current Biochemistry*, 5(3), 1–10. <https://doi.org/10.29244/cb.5.3.1-10>
- Rubio, J. A., Jiménez, S., & Lázaro-Martínez, J. L. (2020). Mortality in Patients with Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Causes, Risk Factors, and Their Association with Evolution and Severity of Ulcer. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9093009>
- Sadeghpour Heravi, F., Zakrzewski, M., Vickery, K., G Armstrong, D., & Hu, H. (2019). Bacterial Diversity of Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Current Status and Future Prospectives. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8111935>
- Safithri, M., Andrianto, D., Gaisani Arda, A., Hawa Syaifie, P., Mardia Ningsih Kaswati, N., Mardliyati, E., Ramadhan, D., Miftah Jauhar, M., Wahyu Nugroho, D., Anggraini Septaningsih, D., Tria Melati, L., Hidayanti, M., Sarah, E., Alifibi Putera Irsal, R., & Taufiqu Rochman, N. (2023). The effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) water fraction as tyrosinase inhibitors: In vitro, molecular docking, and molecular dynamics studies. *Journal of King Saud University - Science*, 35(10), 102933. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2023.102933>
- Setyawati, A., Sri, M., Wahyuningsih, H., Aris, D., Nugrahaningsih, A., Effendy, C., & Ibeneme, S. (2023). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav as a commonly used typically medicinal plant from Indonesia: What do we actually know about it? Scoping review. *Indonesian Contemporary Nursing Journal*, 7(2), 61–78.
- Setyawati, A., Wahyuningsih, M. S. H., Nugrahaningsih, D. A. A., Effendy, C., Fneish, F., & Fortwengel, G. (2021). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav. ameliorates wound healing through p53, E-cadherin and SOD1 pathways on wounded hyperglycemia fibroblasts. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(12), 7257–7268. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.08.039>
- Shamsudin, N. F., Ahmed, Q. U., Mahmood, S., Ali Shah, S. A., Khatib, A., Mukhtar, S., Alsharif, M. A., Parveen, H., & Zakaria, Z. A. (2022). Antibacterial Effects of Flavonoids and Their Structure-Activity Relationship Study: A Comparative Interpretation. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(4). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27041149>
- Shigeyama, M., Ohgaya, T., Kawashima, Y., Takeuchi, H., & Hino, T. (1999). Mixed base of hydrophilic ointment and purified lanolin to improve the drug release rate and absorption of water of minocycline hydrochloride ointment for treatment of bedsores. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 47(6), 744–748. <https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.47.744>
- Suri, M. A., Azizah, Z., & Asra, R. (2021). A Review: Traditional Use, Phytochemical and Pharmacological Review of Red Betel Leaves (*Piper Crocatum* Ruiz & Pav). *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research and Development*, 9(1), 159–163. <https://doi.org/10.22270/ajprd.v9i1.926>
- Tanoey, J., & Becher, H. (2021). Diabetes prevalence and risk factors of early-onset adult diabetes: results from the Indonesian family life survey. *Global Health Action*, 14(1), 2001144. <https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2021.2001144>
- USP. (2007). *Hydrophilic Ointment: In United States Pharmacopeia Convention Committee of Revision (Ed.), United States Pharmacopeia* (USP29-NF4 ed.). In United States Pharmacopeial Convention Committee of Revision (Ed.).
- Yan, X., Song, J.-F., Zhang, L., & Li, X. (2022). Analysis of risk factors for multidrug-resistant organisms in diabetic foot infection. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 22(1), 46. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-022-00957-0>

3. Revision: requested by Reviewer B (8 Juli 2024)



---

**[Pharmaciana] Editor Decision**

1 pesan

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id>

8 Juli 2024 pukul 09.16

Balas Ke: "apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si" &lt;citra.arianie@gmail.com&gt;

Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari &lt;yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id&gt;

Cc: Mila Abusri &lt;mila2100023042@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Wahyu Yuntari &lt;wahyu2100023141@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Oca Maharani Tryadi &lt;oca2100023140@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana &lt;fiarriescha2100023190@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Pharmaciana, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study".

Our decision is revisions required based on the Reviewer B's comments and files. Thank you.

apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si  
Fakultas Farmasi, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Phone 0811267390  
[citra.arianie@gmail.com](mailto:citra.arianie@gmail.com)

-----  
Reviewer A:

Does the paper contain an original contribution to the field?:

Yes

Is the paper technically sound?:

Yes

Does the title of the paper accurately reflect the major focus contribution of this paper?:

Yes

Please suggest change of the title as appropriate (if any):

Is the abstract a clear description of the paper?:

Yes

Is the paper well written (clear, concise, and well organized)?:

Yes

Are the equations, figures and tables in this journal style, clear, relevant, and are the captions adequate?:

Yes

Please score the paper on a scale of 0 - 10 as per the directions below:

:

7-8 Good

Please write down your suggestion to improve this manuscript:

Please find the comments in the attachment

-----  
-----  
Reviewer B:

Does the paper contain an original contribution to the field?:

Yes

Is the paper technically sound?:

Yes

Does the title of the paper accurately reflect the major focus contribution of this paper?:

Yes

Please suggest change of the title as appropriate (if any):

Is the abstract a clear description of the paper?:

Yes

Is the paper well written (clear, concise, and well organized)?:

Yes

Are the equations, figures and tables in this journal style, clear, relevant, and are the captions adequate?:

No

Please score the paper on a scale of 0 - 10 as per the directions below:

:

7-8 Good

Please write down your suggestion to improve this manuscript:

The author of this manuscript has chosen interesting topics on assessing the antibacterial effect associated with DFU of ointment formulation however the following points need to be revised before it is published:

1. the manuscript needs a thorough read to check for grammatical and typing errors.
2. The authors should specify why they chose ointment for the extract formulation and its benefits in DFU treatments.
3. some excipients and instrument info are missing from the manuscript
4. the author should remove the methods of ointment characterization from the result and discussion section to the method section
5. more references need to be added to support the claim that the extract has antibacterial activity and that flavonoid is its main biomarker in the introduction.
6. the author can see my other comments attached to the manuscript in the file

-----  
Pharmaciana

<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

## Effects of *Piper crocatum* Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study

Yudha Rizky Nuari\*, Mila Abusri, Wahyu Yuntari, Oca Maharani Tryadi,  
Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana (12pt)

Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan

Jl. Prof. Dr. Soepomo, S.H., Janturan, Warungboto, Umbulharjo, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Submitted :..... Reviewed :..... Accepted:.....

### ABSTRACT (11pt, spasi 1)

Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose control are highly susceptible to developing secondary infections, which can lead to the development of prolonged diabetic ulcers. Therefore, a suitable medication that may effectively prevent the occurrence of secondary infections is crucial to shorten the closure of diabetic ulcers. Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) reportedly possesses antimicrobial activity due to the presence of flavonoids. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) ointments against the most prevalent bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcers (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL was prepared by macerating powdered red betel leaf with 96% ethanol and was screened for the presence of flavonoids and the determination of total flavonoid content (TFC) by thin layer chromatography and UV-Vis spectrophotometry, respectively. This study examined three hydrophilic-based ointments containing 10%, 20%, and 30% EERBL, respectively, followed by characterization for pH, spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity. The EERBL ointments' effect on the bacteria was evaluated using the well-diffusion method by observing inhibition zone formation after 24-hour incubation. The results showed that varying the EERBL concentrations in the formulations led to different spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity ( $p < 0.05$ ). Furthermore, all EERBL ointments demonstrated the formation of an inhibition zone on cultured media, indicating the presence of antimicrobial activity. The ointment with 30% EERBL had the largest diameter of the inhibition zone against both bacteria ( $p < 0.05$ ). The findings suggest enhanced antimicrobial activity was observed with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments.

**Keywords:** Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum*), flavonoids, ointment formulation, antimicrobial activity, diabetic ulcers

#### \*Corresponding author:

Yudha Rizky Nuari  
Department of Pharmaceutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Jl. Prof. Dr. Soepomo, S.H., Janturan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia  
Email: yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [DA1]: Is reported to possess

Commented [DA2]: Why did the author examine the antibacterial activity of the formulation instead of the extract?

Commented [DA3]: What did the author mean by enhanced antimicrobial activity? Enhanced from what? The author didn't compare the antibacterial activity of the extract with the ointments containing the extract.

Formatted: Strikethrough

## INTRODUCTION (11pt)

Indonesia had a diabetes prevalence of approximately 11 million patients living with the condition in 2021, placing it among the top ten countries worldwide with the highest occurrence of the disease (Hidayat et al., 2022; Tanoey & Becher, 2021). Diabetes is a chronically persistent disease that ranked as the third leading cause of mortality in Indonesia, as reported in 2017 (Hidayat et al., 2022). Inadequate management and poorly controlled diabetes over a long period can result in several severe complications, such as macroangiopathy, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and diabetic neuropathy, including diabetic foot ulcers (Beulens et al., 2021; Farmaki et al., 2020).

Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU) is considered the most severe complication of diabetes mellitus that is linked to significant illness, death, and a decrease in quality of life, which continues to increase in prevalence over time (Cho et al., 2018). A diabetic foot ulcer is described as a deep wound located below the ankle in individuals with diabetes and may lead to a devastating long-term complication of non-traumatic lower limb amputation, especially in diabetic patients with poorly managed, chronically infected diabetic foot ulcers (Jupiter et al., 2016). Patients diagnosed with diabetes have a one-fourth probability of developing Diabetic Foot Ulcers (DFU) during the course of their lives, and the prevalence of DFU-related amputation is virtually every half minute globally (Chammas et al., 2016). Diabetic foot ulcers (DFU) are a prevalent reason for hospitalization among diabetic patients and have a notable socioeconomic effect (Ha et al., 2021). Patients with DFU experience a mortality rate that is more than double that of diabetic patients without ulcers, with approximately 40% of the five-year mortality rates after ulceration (Jupiter et al., 2016; Rubio et al., 2020). Additionally, the DFU and its long-term consequences are responsible for both direct healthcare expenses and extended periods of disability (Ha et al., 2021; Rubio et al., 2020).

Diabetic patients with ulcers are susceptible to developing secondary infections DFU due to delayed wound healing (Matheson et al., 2021; Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, and gram-negative bacteria, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, are the most responsible colonies that cause secondary infections in DFU, as observed from the bacterial cultures of patient samples globally (Datta et al., 2019; Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). These bacteria on the surface wound create a favourable niche for further invasion, resulting in chronic infected DFU (Li et al., 2022). This infection increases the likelihood of multi-drug resistance and ultimately prolongs the wound-healing process (Datta et al., 2019; Yan et al., 2022).

*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav (*P. crocatum*), or red betel, is a well-known traditional herbal remedy from Indonesia (Setyawati et al., 2023). This easily cultivated plant is readily available, and its leaf has been traditionally and empirically used as herbal medicine to treat wounds for generations in Indonesia (Suri et al., 2021). According to numerous studies, red betel leaves are composed of tannins, polyphenols, saponins, and flavonoids (Setyawati et al., 2021; Suri et al., 2021). In addition, flavonoids reportedly exhibit antibacterial properties and may serve as a viable alternative source of treatment for infections manifested in diabetic ulcers (Ibrahim et al., 2018).

The current study focuses on formulating and characterizing topical ointments containing ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) using a hydrophilic ointment base with variations of EERBL concentrations of 10%, 20% and 30% b/b. The aim of this study is to assess the effects of the EERBL ointments against the two most prevalent DFU-associated bacteria, namely *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, as compared to positive control (mupirocin topical cream) and placebo (the ointment base). Ultimately, the EERBL ointment with the largest inhibitory zone diameter, which signifies antimicrobial activity, will be selected for further in vivo investigation using diabetic animal models in future experiments.

**Commented [DA4]:** Please re-arrange the sentence to diabetes prevalence in Indonesia has achieved approximately... or the prevalence of diabetes mellitus in Indonesia  
Or Indonesia is one among the top ten countries with highest occurrence of diabetes with approx 11 millions cases in 2021

**Commented [DA5]:** Favorable

**Commented [DA6]:** Please add more references to support the antibacterial activity of the extract and or its secondary metabolites (biomarker)

**Commented [DA7]:** Please specify the reason for choosing ointment to formulate the extract. What is the benefit of using ointment particularly hydrophilic ointment base in DFU treatments?

**Commented [DA8]:** Add comma

**Commented [DA9]:** This study aims to

## MATERIALS AND METHOD (11pt)

### Materials

*Piper crocatum* (red betel leaves) obtained from Bantul, ethanol 96% (Merck®), toluene (Merck®), methyl paraben (PT Brataco), propyl paraben (PT Brataco), sodium lauryl sulphate (Sigma Aldrich®), ~~propyleneglycol~~ propylene glycol (Sigma Aldrich®), stearyl alcohol (PT Brataco), vaseline (PT Brataco), distilled water (PT Widatra), quercetin standard (Sigma Aldrich®), ethyl acetate (Merck®), formic acid (Merck®), silica gel 60 254 (Merck®), AlCl<sub>3</sub> (Merck®), FeCl<sub>3</sub> (Merck®), Na-acetate (Merck®), Dragendorff reagent (Sigma Aldrich®), Mayer's reagent (Labchem), nutrient broth (Oxoid), Mueller Hinton agar (Oxoid), NaCl 0.9% (Otsuka), NaOH (Merck®), HCl (Merck®), Mupirocin ointment (PT Etercon Pharma), *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923), *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853). Rotary evaporator (Heidolph), Biosafety Cabinet (Monmouth), Waterbath (Memmerth), Autoclave (Hirayama), Rheosys Merlin VR11 (Scientex), UV-Vis Spectrophotometry (Shimadzu), Glassware (Pyrex).

### Methods

#### Sample Preparation

The sample of red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) was collected from Bantul and was initially subjected to a determination test (ID no:142/Lab.Bio/B/III/2024) at the Biology Laboratory, Faculty of Applied Science and Technology, the University of Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. The red betel leaves were wet-sorted and rinsed to remove dirt and dust by flowing water before being dried at room temperature. The dried leaves were then blended and milled into small pieces and fine powder (Safithri et al., 2023).

#### Extract Preparation and Characterization

Ethanol extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) was prepared by weighing the powdered red betel leaves for 350 g and was macerated using 1400 ml of 96% ethanol in a glass jar for 24 hours with occasional stirring. After 24 hours, the filtrate and the residue were separated; the latter was re-macerated for another 24 hours with a similar protocol for two rounds. The filtrates from maceration and re-maceration were then collected and evaporated for one hour at 60°C in a rotary evaporator. Following this, the filtrates were then dried on a waterbath until a viscous extract was observed (Navirius et al., 2023; Puspita et al., 2019). The crude extracts were afterwards characterized for organoleptic properties, % yield and water content by the toluene distillation method with the following equation (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Water Content (\%)} = \frac{\text{Water volume (ml)} \times 1 \text{ gram/ml}}{\text{Sample weight (gram)}} \times 100\% \quad \dots\dots\dots(1)$$

#### Phytochemical Screening

Phytochemical screening tests were performed on the concentrated EERBL for flavonoids, alkaloids, saponin, tannin, triterpenoids, and steroids by means of tube tests (Puspita et al., 2019). In addition, thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was employed to ensure the presence of flavonoids within the ethanolic extracts. A mixture of toluene P, ethyl acetate P, and formic acid P (7:2.5:0.5) was used as a mobile phase while a silica gel 60 F254 was used as a stationary phase (Kemenkes RI, 2017).

#### Determination of Total Flavonoid Content

Total flavonoid content was determined by UV-Vis spectrophotometry using a quercetin standard. The standard solutions were prepared at 5, 10, 25, 50, 75, and 100 mg/L dissolved in ethanol with the addition of 0.1 ml of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> and 1 ml of 1M Na-acetate prior to measurement at a wavelength of 438 nm. For sample analysis, 0.5 ml of each concentrated ethanolic extract was

Judul manuskrip (Penulis pertama)

Commented [DA10]: were

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [DA11]: Do you mean "plant identification process"?

Commented [DA12]: Please use more common english term, or just describe the process

Commented [DA13]: mL

Formatted: Strikethrough

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [DA14]: Add comma

Commented [DA15]: A qualitative phytochemical screening test was

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [DA16]: Is the flavonoids the main biomarker in this extract? Because Piper Crocatum is a species highly known for its essential oil/terpenoid content. Therefore, please specify the flavonoids which were contained in the extract based on previous studies or related literature

added with 1.5 ml of ethanol, 0.1 ml of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub>, and 1 ml of 1M Na-acetate and was read at the same wavelength as the standards (Nerdy et al., 2022). The flavonoid content was calculated and expressed as quercetin equivalent (mg QE/g) with the following equation (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Total Flavonoid Content (TFC)} = \frac{C_p \times \frac{A_u}{A_p} \times V \times f}{W} \times 100\% \dots\dots\dots(2)$$

C<sub>p</sub> = concentration of standard solution  
 A<sub>u</sub> = absorbance of sample  
 A<sub>p</sub> = absorbance of standard solution  
 V = volume of standard solution before dilution  
 f = dilution factor of standard solution  
 W = weight of sample

### Preparation of Ointment of Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL Ointment)

An ointment is generally a favorable topical preparation for wound treatment. In this study, the EERBL ointments were prepared through a melting method. Firstly, methylparaben, propylene glycol, sodium lauryl sulfate, and water were homogeneously mixed in an evaporating porcelain dish and heated at 60°C until completely melted; this mixture was referred to as mixture one. Additionally, a second mixture consisting of vaseline, propylparaben, and stearyl alcohol was prepared and subjected to the same temperature as the previous mixture; this mixture was considered mixture two. Subsequently, mixture one was introduced into mixture two; both mixtures were constantly stirred until an ointment was formed and transferred into a container (USP, 2007). All ointments were prepared according to the following formulas (Table 1).

**Table I. Formulas of ointments evaluated in this study**

Ingredients	Ointment Formula (gram)		
	F1	F2	F3
Ethanolic extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL)	10	20	30
Methyl paraben	0,025	0,025	0,025
Propyl paraben	0,015	0,015	0,015
Sodium Lauryl Sulfate	0,7	0,7	0,7
Propyleneglycol	8,5	8,5	8,5
Stearyl alcohol	15	15	15
Vaseline	20	20	20
Aquadest (distilled water)	ad 100	ad 100	ad 100

### Characterization of Ointment

The EERBL ointments were subjected to characterization for pH, spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity (Maulina & Sugihartini, 2015). The viscosity test was carried out using Rheosys Merlin VR11.

### Antibacterial Activity

Nutrient Broth (NB) media were used to propagate pure cultures of DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853). The cultured media were placed into an incubator for 24-hour incubation. Following this, 0.9% NaCl was mixed with bacterial cultures on the NB media, and the level of turbidity was standardized using Mc Farland 0.5. The standardized turbidity level bacterial cultures were uniformly swabbed on the surface of a Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) media and allowed to sit for 5 minutes. The antibacterial activity assay was performed by means of the well-diffusion method by filling the

**Commented [DA17]:** What about Diabetic Foot ulcer treatments?

**Commented [DA18]:** fusion

**Formatted:** Strikethrough

**Commented [DA19]:** Which type of vaseline? Please add the source of excipients used in the formulation in the material section. Some of them are missing

**Commented [DA20]:** Referred as

**Commented [DA21]:** And when was the extract added to the formula?

**Commented [DA22]:** Maybe the author would use the term adhesivity instead

**Commented [DA23]:** was

**Commented [DA24]:** was

**Commented [DA25]:** Please specify the model and brand of the incubator in the material section

reservoirs in the MHA media with the ointments (F1, F2, and F3), mupirocin ointment (positive control) and placebo (ointment base only). The MHA media was incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. After incubation, a calliper was used to measure the formation of the inhibition zone diameter (Balouiri et al., 2016; Blando et al., 2019; Puspita et al., 2019).

#### Data Analysis

The data collected from this study were statistically analyzed utilizing the one-way ANOVA and the Tukey test with a significance level of  $p < 0.05$ .

### RESULT AND DISCUSSION (11pt)

#### Characterization of EERBL

The concentrated ethanolic extract of red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) (EERBL) was subjected to characterization, including organoleptic properties, % yield, and water content. The crude extracts were observed as a thick, dark brown-reddish-colored extract with a bitter flavor and typical aroma of red betel leaf (Figure 1). Furthermore, the total weight of the crude concentrated EERBL was 98.12 grams from 350 grams of powdered red betel leaf used, resulting in a yield of 28.03%. Subsequently, the water content was also determined to ensure the risk of potential bacterial or microorganism growth during the storage is low, thereby not affecting the quality and safety of the product. The water content was  $7.51\% \pm 0.286$ , as determined by the toluene distillation method (Kemenkes RI, 2017). All these evaluated characteristics were in line with the compendial criteria suggested in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II and are presented in Table II.

Table II. Attributes of crude ethanolic extract derived from red betel leaves

Parameter	Result	Requirement*
Color	Dark brown-reddish	Dark brown-reddish
Taste	Bitter	Bitter
Odor	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf
Yield	28.03%	> 17%
Water Content	$7.51\% \pm 0.286^{**}$	< 10%

\*Compendial requirement as described in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II for red betel leaf extract

\*\*data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3)

#### Phytochemical Screening & Total Flavonoid Content

Preliminary phytochemical screenings were performed on the extracts prior to ointment preparations (Puspita et al., 2019). According to the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II, the red betel leaf extract is supposed to contain flavonoids considered as quercetin (Kemenkes RI, 2017). The results suggest the presence of flavonoids, alkaloids, phenols, steroids, triterpenoids, and tannins with an absence of saponins in the extracts as screened through the tube tests (Table III). In addition, a thin-layer chromatography test on the extract was also performed to ensure the flavonoid content as compared to the quercetin standard (Figure 1) (Kemenkes RI, 2017). Ultimately, total flavonoid content (TFC) in EERBL was also determined via UV-Vis spectrophotometry using a quercetin standard with a result of  $78.14 \pm 7.63$  mg QE/g (n=5).



**Commented [DA26]:** What is the concentration of each sample? Did the ointment diluted first before adding it to the well? If so, please specify the procedure! Also please specify the volume of the sample used in the test

**Commented [DA27]:** Figure 1 only shows the TLC result, not the visual of the extract!

**Commented [DA28]:** Is known to contain flavonoids. Quercetin was used as a marker to identify the flavonoid content in the extract!  
The sentence "contain flavonoids considered as quercetin" is confusing, because it may referred as the most flavonoid present in this extract is quercetin. Please change the wording

**Commented [DA29]:** Please refer the tube test in the manuscript as the qualitative test for preliminary phytochemical screening. Please also compare the results (qualitative screening) to the previous study.

**Commented [DA30]:** Please give more detailed explanation of the TLC result which proves that the extract indeed contain flavonoid similar to quercetin

**Figure 1. Thin layer chromatography analysis of quercetin standard (A) vs extract sample (B) with identical RF values, suggesting the presence of flavonoid quercetin in the ethanolic extract**

**Table III. Preliminary Phytochemical Screenings on the Red Betel Leaf Ethanolic Extracts**

Secondary Metabolite	Test	Result
Flavonoids	Bate Smite-Metcalfe's test	+
	NaOH 10%	+
Alkaloids	Deagendorff's test	+
	Mayer's test	+
Saponins	Frothing test	-
Tannins	Ferric Chloride test	+
Triterpenoids	Liebermann's test	+
Steroids	Liebermann's test	+
Phenols	Ferric Chloride test	+

Key = + present, - absent

### Preparation and Characterization of Ointment

Three different formulas were employed for preparing the hydrophilic-based ointments with variations on the concentration of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL): 10%, 20%, and 30%, respectively. A hydrophilic base was selected as the ointment base due to its ability to facilitate good absorption while providing optimum viscosity for better spreadability and stickiness to the skin upon application (Shigeyama et al., 1999).

After preparation, the EERBL ointments were first characterized for pH by mixing 2.5 grams of the ointment with 50 ml of aquadest. The mixture was then heated up to 60-70°C until homogeneously mixed, following measurement with a digital pH meter. The measured pH of the ointments ranged between 4.81 to 5.28. In addition, the spreadability and stickiness of the ointment were also evaluated. The former was done by applying 0.5 grams of the ointments onto a round glass plate, with a second glass plate was placed on top of it. A weight of 100 grams was allowed to remain on the top glass plate for 1 minute. The diameter of the circle was measured after the ointment was widely spread. The latter was conducted by placing 1 gram of the ointment on a glass plate that was subsequently covered with another glass plate, with a weight of 1 kg was added on top of it for 5 minutes. Afterward, the squeezed glass was released, and the sticky power was measured using a stopwatch. The spreadability of the ointments was at 4.65 to 5.20, while the stickiness ranged from 32 to 63 seconds among the three formulas, respectively. Ultimately, the viscosity of the ointments was also evaluated using Rheosys Merlin VR11. The data of the ointment's characterization is presented in Table IV below.

**Table IV. Characterization Data of the EERBL Ointments**

Parameter	F1	F2	F3
pH	4.81 ± 0.14 <sup>a</sup>	5.12 ± 0.21 <sup>ab</sup>	5.28 ± 0.18 <sup>b</sup>
Spreadability (cm)	5.52 ± 0.24 <sup>a</sup>	4.89 ± 0.19 <sup>b</sup>	4.37 ± 0.19 <sup>c</sup>
Stickiness (seconds)	32.43 ± 1.8 <sup>a</sup>	54.18 ± 2.6 <sup>b</sup>	63.71 ± 1.4 <sup>c</sup>
Viscosity (cP)	8367 ± 373 <sup>a</sup>	10,453 ± 910 <sup>b</sup>	13,551 ± 794 <sup>c</sup>

Key: EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf; data are shown as mean ± SD (n=3); values within a row with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test (p < 0.05).

From Table IV, the pH of the ointments met the criteria of the ideal pH ointment for human skin, which is 4.5-6.5. For spreadability, Formula 1 showed the highest value with an average spread of 5.22 cm, while for the stickiness parameter, Formula 3 had the longest adherence with 63.71 seconds, slightly longer than Formula 2. The same trend was also observed in the viscosity,

**Commented [DA31]:** Please move the methods of pH determination to the methods section

**Commented [DA32]:** One (in word) not number

**Commented [DA33]:** What did the author mean by sticky power? Please use a proper term to describe the parameter. The author may use this "The adhesiveness of ointment was determined by measuring the time required to separate both glasses using a stopwatch"

**Commented [DA34]:** Please move these sentence to the methods section

**Commented [DA35]:** Please add the unit

**Commented [DA36]:** Spindle number? The amount of sample?

**Formatted:** Strikethrough



where Formula 3 demonstrated the most viscous ointment with 11,851 cP. The viscosity of all groups was still within the range of compendial viscosity for an ointment, which is around 2000 to 50,000 cP (Anonim, 2020). Consistency of the ointments might be responsible for these findings since the ratio between aqueous and non-aqueous components determines the liquidity of the ointments, which affects the spreadability, stickiness, and viscosity (Conti-Silva et al., 2018; Herbig et al., 2023). Of the three formulas, Formula 1 contains the highest amount of water within its formula, while Formula 3 was the opposite. This implies that Formula 1 became easily spread ointment while Formula 3 was the stickiest and most viscous ointment. - Despite these results, all the parameters above follow the ideal criteria for ointments.

**Commented [DA37]:** And what causes the consistency of the ointment to be varied?

### Antibacterial Activity

The antibacterial activity of the EERBL ointments was evaluated by means of determining the inhibition zone diameter on the two most common bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcer (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Sadeghpour Heravi et al., 2019). Mupirocin ointment was used as a positive control as it is widely used clinically as a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic for ulcers (Dallo et al., 2023; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). The diameter zone of inhibition was examined using the well-diffusion method. Data on the diameter of the inhibition zone is displayed in Table V below.

**Table V. Inhibition Zone Diameter of the EERBL Ointments**

Formula	Diameter of Inhibition Zone (cm)	
	<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>	<i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>
F1 (10% EERBL)	10.4 ± 0.60 <sup>a</sup>	8.1 ± 0.40 <sup>a</sup>
F2 (20% EERBL)	12.6 ± 0.63 <sup>b</sup>	9.8 ± 0.35 <sup>b</sup>
F3 (30% EERBL)	14.8 ± 0.98 <sup>c</sup>	12.7 ± 0.55 <sup>c</sup>
Positive Control*	36.4 ± 0.65 <sup>d</sup>	32.1 ± 0.93 <sup>d</sup>
Placebo**	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>

**Commented [DA38]:** Are you sure the unit is in cm? not mm?

**Commented [DA39]:** The concentration of positive control

Key = EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaves; \*Mupirocin cream; \*\*ointment base only;

Data are shown as mean ± SD (n=3); values within a column with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test (p < 0.05).

The antimicrobial activity in this study was evaluated by the ability to form an inhibition zone in the cultured media after 24-hour incubation. As depicted in Table V, all placebo groups - containing only ointment base - showed no inhibitory activity, while positive controls exhibited the largest inhibition zone diameter in both groups. This is reasonable since mupirocin is a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic that can clinically constrain a wide range of bacterial growth by blocking bacterial RNA and protein synthesis, including Gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and Gram-negative *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Dallo et al., 2023; Erwin DZ, 2024; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). In addition, the formation of an inhibition zone was observed in all EERBL ointment groups, with Formula 3 having the largest diameter among these groups against both bacteria. Even though the magnitude of the constrained activity was approximately a third lower than that of the control group, all EERBL ointments (10-30%) were able to exert antimicrobial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, the most common bacteria isolated from diabetic foot ulcer samples. The statistical analysis of ANOVA and Tukey test revealed that all groups were significantly different (p<0.05).

**Commented [DA40]:** Please classify the antibacterial activity of the formulation based on the inhibition zone to low, moderate, or high

As shown in Table V, the antimicrobial activity is enhanced with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments. Such inhibition activity is likely due to the flavonoid content of EERBL in the EERBL ointments. These results are in agreement with other studies that report similar findings (Hartini & Nugroho, 2020; Juliantina Rachmawaty et al., 2018; Puspita et al., 2019). Flavonoids are effectively able to affect bacterial cell membrane integrity and

**Commented [DA41]:** Please refer to the citation format

biofilm formation, leading to bacterial growth suppression (Heliawati et al., 2022; Kaul et al., 2013; Puspita et al., 2019; Shamsudin et al., 2022).

## CONCLUSION (14pt)

The EERBL ointments exhibit antimicrobial activity by forming an inhibitory zone against DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL ointment from Formula 3 - with 30% EERBL content - provides the second-largest inhibition zone diameter after the control group. Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose management are at high risk of acquiring secondary infections that may delay wound closure. Such delay in wound healing may develop minor injuries into diabetic ulcers if not properly treated. Regarding this, therefore, the EERBL ointment is likely to be developed as a candidate for DFU topical treatment as it exerts flavonoid-related antimicrobial activity that may prevent secondary infection, leading to shortened closure of DFU. However, further experiments are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the EERBL ointment for DFU in diabetic animal models.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT (11pt)

The authors sincerely thank the Institute for Research and Community Service of Universitas Ahmad Dahlan (LPPM-UAD) for providing financial support to this research with reference number PD-064/SP3/LPPM-UAD/VIII/2023.

## REFERENCES (11pt)

- Anonim. (2020). *Farmakope Indonesia Edisi VI*. Kemenkes RI.
- Balouri, M., Sadiki, M., & Ibsouda, S. K. (2016). Methods for in vitro evaluating antimicrobial activity: A review. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis*, 6(2), 71–79. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpha.2015.11.005>
- Beulens, J. W. J., Yauw, J. S., Elders, P. J. M., Feenstra, T., Herings, R., Sliker, R. C., Moons, K. G. M., Nijpels, G., & van der Heijden, A. A. (2021). Prognostic models for predicting the risk of foot ulcer or amputation in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and external validation study. *Diabetologia*, 64(7), 1550–1562.
- Blando, F., Russo, R., Negro, C., De Bellis, L., & Frassinetti, S. (2019). Antimicrobial and Antibiofilm Activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. Cladode Polyphenolic Extracts. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8(5). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8050117>
- Chammas, N. K., Hill, R. L. R., & Edmonds, M. E. (2016). Increased Mortality in Diabetic Foot Ulcer Patients: The Significance of Ulcer Type. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016, 2879809. <https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2879809>
- Cho, N. H., Shaw, J. E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Ohlrogge, A. W., & Malanda, B. (2018). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 138, 271–281. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023>
- Conti-Silva, A. C., Ichiba, A. K. T., Silveira, A. L. da, Albano, K. M., & Nicoletti, V. R. (2018). Viscosity of liquid and semisolid materials: Establishing correlations between instrumental analyses and sensory characteristics. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 49(6), 569–577. <https://doi.org/10.1111/jtxs.12358>
- Dallo, M., Patel, K., & Hebert, A. A. (2023). Topical Antibiotic Treatment in Dermatology. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 12(2). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12020188>
- Datta, P., Chander, J., Gupta, V., Mohi, G. K., & Attri, A. K. (2019). Evaluation of various risk factors associated with multidrug-resistant organisms isolated from diabetic foot ulcer patients. *Journal of Laboratory Physicians*, 11(1), 58–62.

**Commented [DA42]:** The real question is how the formulation impact the antibacterial activity of the extract! And the author should also compare the findings of the antibacterial test in which the extract may have more inhibitory activity towards S.aureus compare to P. aeruginosa with the previous study

**Formatted:** Strikethrough

- [https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP\\_106\\_18](https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP_106_18)
- Erwin DZ, C. P. (2024). Mupirocin. [Updated 2024 Jan 11]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan. In *StatPearls*. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK599499/>
- Farmaki, P., Damaskos, C., Garmpis, N., Garmpi, A., Savvanis, S., & Diamantis, E. (2020). Complications of the Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, *16*(4), 249–251. <https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X1604201229115531>
- Ha, J. H., Jin, H., & Park, J.-U. (2021). Association between socioeconomic position and diabetic foot ulcer outcomes: a population-based cohort study in South Korea. *BMC Public Health*, *21*(1), 1395. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11406-3>
- Hartini, Y. S., & Nugroho, L. H. (2020). Antibacterial effect of red betel (Piper crocatum) extract in combination with vancomycin against staphylococcus aureus. *Biodiversitas*, *21*(7), 3271–3274. <https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d210750>
- Heliawati, L., Lestari, S., Hasanah, U., Ajiati, D., & Kurnia, D. (2022). Phytochemical Profile of Antibacterial Agents from Red Betel Leaf (Piper crocatum Ruiz and Pav) against Bacteria in Dental Caries. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, *27*(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27092861>
- Herbig, M. E., Evers, D.-H., Gorissen, S., & Köllmer, M. (2023). Rational Design of Topical Semi-Solid Dosage Forms-How Far Are We? *Pharmaceutics*, *15*(7). <https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics15071822>
- Hidayat, B., Ramadani, R. V., Rudijanto, A., Soewondo, P., Suastika, K., & Siu Ng, J. Y. (2022). Direct Medical Cost of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Its Associated Complications in Indonesia. *Value in Health Regional Issues*, *28*, 82–89. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vhri.2021.04.006>
- Ibrahim, N., 'Izzah, Wong, S. K., Mohamed, I. N., Mohamed, N., Chin, K.-Y., Ima-Nirwana, S., & Shuid, A. N. (2018). Wound Healing Properties of Selected Natural Products. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *15*(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15112360>
- Ishikawa, J., & Horii, T. (2005). Effects of Mupirocin at Subinhibitory Concentrations on Biofilm Formation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Chemotherapy*, *51*(6), 361–362. <https://doi.org/10.1159/000088962>
- Juliantina Rachmawaty, F., Mahardika Akhmad, M., Hikmah Pranacipta, S., Nabila, Z., & Muhammad, A. (2018). Optimasi Ekstrak Etanol Daun Sirih Merah (Piper Crocatum) sebagai Antibakteri terhadap Bakteri Staphylococcus Aureus. *Mutiara Medika: Jurnal Kedokteran Dan Kesehatan*, *18*(1), 13–19. <https://doi.org/10.18196/mm.180109>
- Jupiter, D. C., Thorud, J. C., Buckley, C. J., & Shibuya, N. (2016). The impact of foot ulceration and amputation on mortality in diabetic patients. I: From ulceration to death, a systematic review. *International Wound Journal*, *13*(5), 892–903. <https://doi.org/10.1111/iwj.12404>
- Kaul, K., Tarr, J. M., Ahmad, S. I., Kohner, E. M., & Chibber, R. (2013). *Introduction to Diabetes Mellitus BT - Diabetes: An Old Disease, a New Insight* (S. I. Ahmad (ed.); pp. 1–11). Springer New York. [https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0\\_1](https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0_1)
- Kemenkes RI. (2017). *Farmakope Herbal Indonesia Edisi 2*. 561.
- Li, Y., Ju, S., Li, X., Li, W., Zhou, S., Wang, G., Cai, Y., & Dong, Z. (2022). Characterization of the microenvironment of diabetic foot ulcers and potential drug identification based on scRNA-seq. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *13*, 997880. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.997880>
- Matheson, E. M., Bragg, S. W., & Blackwelder, R. S. (2021). Diabetes-Related Foot Infections: Diagnosis and Treatment. *American Family Physician*, *104*(4), 386–394.
- Maulina, L., & Sugihartini, N. (2015). FORMULASI GEL EKSTRAK ETANOL KULIT BUAH MANGGIS (Garcinia mangostana L.) DENGAN VARIASI GELLING AGENT SEBAGAI SEDIAAN LUKA BAKAR. *Pharmaciana*, *5*(1), 43–52.

- <https://doi.org/10.12928/pharmaciana.v5i1.2285>
- Navirius, F. J., Pamudji, G., & Herowati, R. (2023). Effect of Red Betel (*Piper crocatum*) Leaf Ethanol Extract On Increased Creatinine and Ureum Levels In White Rat Wistar Strain Induced Streptozotosin-Nikotinamid. *Media Farmasi: Jurnal Ilmu Farmasi*, 20(2), 57. <https://doi.org/10.12928/mf.v20i2.25457>
- Nerdy, N., Barus, B. R., El-Matury, H. J., Ginting, S., Zebua, N. F., & Bakri, T. K. (2022). Comparison of flavonoid content and antioxidant activity in calyces of two roselle varieties (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 956(1). <https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/956/1/012001>
- Puspita, P. J., Safithri, M., & Sugiharti, N. P. (2019). Antibacterial Activities of Sirih Merah (*Piper crocatum*) Leaf Extracts. *Current Biochemistry*, 5(3), 1–10. <https://doi.org/10.29244/cb.5.3.1-10>
- Rubio, J. A., Jiménez, S., & Lázaro-Martínez, J. L. (2020). Mortality in Patients with Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Causes, Risk Factors, and Their Association with Evolution and Severity of Ulcer. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9093009>
- Sadeghpour Heravi, F., Zakrzewski, M., Vickery, K., G Armstrong, D., & Hu, H. (2019). Bacterial Diversity of Diabetic Foot Ulcers: Current Status and Future Prospectives. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8111935>
- Safithri, M., Andrianto, D., Gaisani Arda, A., Hawa Syaife, P., Mardia Ningsih Kaswati, N., Mardliyati, E., Ramadhan, D., Miftah Jauhar, M., Wahyu Nugroho, D., Anggraini Septaningsih, D., Tria Melati, L., Hidayanti, M., Sarah, E., Alifibi Putera Irsal, R., & Taufiqu Rochman, N. (2023). The effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) water fraction as tyrosinase inhibitors: In vitro, molecular docking, and molecular dynamics studies. *Journal of King Saud University - Science*, 35(10), 102933. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2023.102933>
- Setyawati, A., Sri, M., Wahyuningsih, H., Aris, D., Nugrahaningsih, A., Effendy, C., & Ibeneme, S. (2023). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav as a commonly used typically medicinal plant from Indonesia: What do we actually know about it? Scoping review. *Indonesian Contemporary Nursing Journal*, 7(2), 61–78.
- Setyawati, A., Wahyuningsih, M. S. H., Nugrahaningsih, D. A. A., Effendy, C., Fneish, F., & Fortwengel, G. (2021). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav. ameliorates wound healing through p53, E-cadherin and SOD1 pathways on wounded hyperglycemia fibroblasts. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(12), 7257–7268. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.08.039>
- Shamsudin, N. F., Ahmed, Q. U., Mahmood, S., Ali Shah, S. A., Khatib, A., Mukhtar, S., Alsharif, M. A., Parveen, H., & Zakaria, Z. A. (2022). Antibacterial Effects of Flavonoids and Their Structure-Activity Relationship Study: A Comparative Interpretation. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(4). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27041149>
- Shigeyama, M., Ohgaya, T., Kawashima, Y., Takeuchi, H., & Hino, T. (1999). Mixed base of hydrophilic ointment and purified lanolin to improve the drug release rate and absorption of water of minocycline hydrochloride ointment for treatment of bedsores. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 47(6), 744–748. <https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.47.744>
- Suri, M. A., Azizah, Z., & Asra, R. (2021). A Review: Traditional Use, Phytochemical and Pharmacological Review of Red Betel Leaves (*Piper Crocatum* Ruiz & Pav). *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research and Development*, 9(1), 159–163. <https://doi.org/10.22270/ajprd.v9i1.926>
- Tanoey, J., & Becher, H. (2021). Diabetes prevalence and risk factors of early-onset adult diabetes: results from the Indonesian family life survey. *Global Health Action*, 14(1), 2001144. <https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2021.2001144>
- USP. (2007). *Hydrophilic Ointment: In United States Pharmacopeia Convention Committee of Revision (Ed.), United States Pharmacopeia* (USP29-NF4 ed.). In United States Pharmacopeial Convention Committee of Revision (Ed.).

Yan, X., Song, J.-F., Zhang, L., & Li, X. (2022). Analysis of risk factors for multidrug-resistant organisms in diabetic foot infection. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 22(1), 46. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-022-00957-0>

4. Minor Revision: requested by Editor (16 Juli 2024)

---

**[Pharmaciana] Editor Decision**

1 pesan

---

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id> 16 Juli 2024 pukul 10.34  
Balas Ke: "apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si" <citra.arianie@gmail.com>  
Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari <yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id>  
Cc: Mila Abusri <mila2100023042@webmail.uad.ac.id>, Wahyu Yuntari <wahyu2100023141@webmail.uad.ac.id>, Oca Maharani Tryadi <oca2100023140@webmail.uad.ac.id>, Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana <fiarriescha2100023190@webmail.uad.ac.id>

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Pharmaciana, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study".


Our decision is revisions required based on the editor's file. Thank you.

apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si  
Fakultas Farmasi, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Phone 0811267390  
[citra.arianie@gmail.com](mailto:citra.arianie@gmail.com)

---

Pharmaciana  
<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

---

 **Layout\_Yudha-CN[1].doc**  
782K

## Effects of *Piper crocatum* leaf extract-based ointments on bacteria associated with diabetic ulcers: an *in vitro* study

Yudha Rizky Nuari\*, Mila Abusri, Wahyu Yuntari, Oca Maharani Tryadi,  
Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana

Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Jl. Prof. Dr.Soepomo, S.H., Warungboto, Umbulharjo, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Submitted :..... Reviewed :..... Accepted:.....

### ABSTRACT

Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose control are highly susceptible to developing secondary infections, which can lead to the development of prolonged diabetic ulcers. Therefore, a suitable medication that may effectively prevent the occurrence of secondary infections is crucial to shorten the closure of diabetic ulcers. Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) is reported to possess antimicrobial activity due to the presence of flavonoids. This study aimed to evaluate the effect of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) ointments against the most prevalent bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcers (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL was prepared by macerating powdered red betel leaf with 96% ethanol and was screened for the presence of flavonoids and the determination of total flavonoid content (TFC) by thin layer chromatography and UV-Vis spectrophotometry, respectively. This study examined three hydrophilic-based ointments containing 10%, 20%, and 30% EERBL, respectively, followed by characterization for pH, spreadability, adhesivity, and viscosity. The EERBL ointments' effect on the bacteria was evaluated using the well-diffusion method by observing inhibition zone formation after 24-hour incubation. The results showed that varying the EERBL concentrations in the formulations led to different spreadability, adhesivity and viscosity ( $p < 0.05$ ). Furthermore, all EERBL ointments demonstrated the formation of an inhibition zone on cultured media, indicating the presence of antimicrobial activity. The ointment with 30% EERBL had the largest diameter of the inhibition zone against both bacteria ( $p < 0.05$ ). The findings suggest a higher antimicrobial activity was observed with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments.

**Keywords:** Red betel leaf (*Piper crocatum*), flavonoids, ointment, antimicrobial activity, diabetic ulcers

**\*Corresponding author:**

Yudha Rizky Nuari  
Department of Pharmaceutics, Faculty of Pharmacy, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan  
Jl. Prof. Dr.Soepomo, S.H., Warungboto, Umbulharjo, Yogyakarta, Indonesia  
Email: yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id





## INTRODUCTION

In 2021, Indonesia was among the top ten countries worldwide with the highest occurrence of diabetes with approximately 11 million cases (Hidayat et al., 2022; Tanoey & Becher, 2021). Diabetes is a chronically persistent disease that ranked as the third leading cause of mortality in Indonesia, as reported in 2017 (Hidayat et al., 2022). Inadequate management and poorly controlled diabetes over a long period can result in several severe complications, such as macroangiopathy, diabetic retinopathy, diabetic nephropathy, and diabetic neuropathy, including diabetic foot ulcers (Beulens et al., 2021; Farmaki et al., 2020).

Diabetic foot ulcer (DFU) is considered the most severe complication of diabetes mellitus that is linked to significant illness, death, and a decrease in quality of life, which continues to increase in prevalence over time (Cho et al., 2018). A diabetic foot ulcer is described as a deep wound located below the ankle in individuals with diabetes and may lead to a devastating long-term complication of non-traumatic lower limb amputation, especially in diabetic patients with poorly managed, chronically infected diabetic foot ulcers (Jupiter et al., 2016). Patients diagnosed with diabetes have a one-fourth probability of developing Diabetic Foot Ulcers (DFU) during the course of their lives, and the prevalence of DFU-related amputation is virtually every half minute globally (Chammas et al., 2016). Diabetic foot ulcers (DFU) are a prevalent reason for hospitalization among diabetic patients and have a notable socioeconomic effect (Ha et al., 2021). Patients with DFU experience a mortality rate that is more than double that of diabetic patients without ulcers, with approximately 40% of the five-year mortality rates after ulceration (Jupiter et al., 2016; Rubio et al., 2020). Additionally, the DFU and its long-term consequences are responsible for both direct healthcare expenses and extended periods of disability (Ha et al., 2021; Rubio et al., 2020).

Diabetic patients with ulcers are susceptible to developing secondary infections DFU due to delayed wound healing (Matheson et al., 2021; Sadeghpour et al., 2019). Gram-positive bacteria, such as *Staphylococcus aureus*, and gram-negative bacteria, including *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, are the most responsible colonies that cause secondary infections in DFU, as observed from the bacterial cultures of patient samples globally (Datta et al., 2019; Sadeghpour et al., 2019). These bacteria on the surface wound create a favorable niche for further invasion, resulting in chronic infected DFU (Li et al., 2022). This infection increases the likelihood of multi-drug resistance and ultimately prolongs the wound-healing process (Datta et al., 2019; Yan et al., 2022).

*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav (*P. crocatum*), or red betel, is a well-known traditional herbal remedy from Indonesia (Setyawati et al., 2023). This easily cultivated plant is readily available, and its leaf has been traditionally and empirically used as herbal medicine to treat wounds for generations in Indonesia (Suri et al., 2021). According to numerous studies, red betel leaves are composed of tannins, polyphenols, saponins, and flavonoids (Januarti et al., 2019; Rahma, 2022; Setyawati et al., 2021; Suri et al., 2021). In addition, flavonoids reportedly exhibit antibacterial properties and may serve as a viable alternative source of treatment for infections manifested in diabetic ulcers (Farhadi et al., 2019; Ibrahim et al., 2018; Shamsudin et al., 2022).

The current study focuses on formulating and characterizing topical ointments containing ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) using a hydrophilic ointment base with variations of EERBL concentrations of 10%, 20%, and 30% b/b. The ointment base is selected due to its ability to form a physical barrier, which enables protection from potential bacterial infections in the wound area and provides moisture to facilitate growth factors to migrate and diffuse to the wound during the closure (Hoekstra et al., 2017; Taddese et al., 2021). This study aims to assess the effects of the EERBL ointments against the two most prevalent DFU-associated bacteria, namely *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, as compared to positive control (mupirocin topical cream) and placebo (the ointment base). Ultimately, the EERBL ointment with the largest inhibitory zone diameter, which signifies antimicrobial activity, will be selected for further in vivo investigation using diabetic animal models in future experiments.

## MATERIALS AND METHOD

### Materials

*Piper crocatum* (red betel leaves) was obtained from Bantul while ethanol 96%, toluene, ethyl acetate, formic acid, AlCl<sub>3</sub>, FeCl<sub>3</sub>, Na-acetate, NaOH, HCl, and silica gel 60 254 were purchased from Merck®. In addition, methyl paraben, propyl paraben, stearyl alcohol, and white vaseline were purchased from PT Brataco whereas sodium lauryl sulphate, propylene glycol, quercetin standard, and Dragendorff reagent were from Sigma Aldrich®. Furthermore, nutrient broth and Mueller Hinton were acquired from Oxoid®, and distilled water, Mayer's reagent, NaCl 0.9%, Mupirocin ointment were purchased from PT Widatra, Labchem®, Otsuka®, and PT Etercon Pharma, respectively. For antimicrobial activity evaluation, *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853) were employed in this study.

### Methods

#### Sample preparation

Red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) were collected from Bantul and were initially subjected to a determination test for plant identification at the Biology Laboratory, Faculty of Applied Science and Technology, the University of Ahmad Dahlan, Yogyakarta, Indonesia (ID no:142/Lab.Bio/B/III/2024). The red betel leaves were freshly sorted and rinsed to remove dirt and dust by flowing water before being dried at room temperature. The dried leaves were then blended and milled into small pieces and fine powder (Safithri et al., 2023).

#### Extract preparation and characterization

Ethanol extract of red betel leaf (EERBL) was prepared by weighing the powdered red betel leaves for 350 g and macerated using 1400 mL of 96% ethanol in a glass jar for 24 hours with occasional stirring. After 24 hours, the filtrate and the residue were separated; the latter was re-macerated for another 24 hours with a similar protocol for two rounds. The filtrates from maceration and re-maceration were collected and evaporated for one hour at 60°C in a rotary evaporator (Heidolph®). Following this, the filtrates were then dried on a waterbath (Memmerth®) until a viscous extract was observed (Navirius et al., 2023; Puspita et al., 2019). The crude extracts were afterward characterized for organoleptic properties, % yield, and water content by the toluene distillation method with the equation (1) (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Water content (\%)} = \frac{\text{Water Volume (mL)} \times \text{1 gram/mL}}{\text{Sample weight (gram)}} \times 100\% \dots\dots\dots(1)$$

#### Phytochemical screening

A qualitative phytochemical screening test was performed on the concentrated EERBL for flavonoids, alkaloids, saponin, tannin, triterpenoids, and steroids (Puspita et al., 2019). In addition, thin-layer chromatography (TLC) was employed to ensure the presence of flavonoids within the ethanolic extracts with quercetin as a biomarker according to the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II (Kemenkes RI, 2017). A mixture of toluene P, ethyl acetate P, and formic acid P (7:2.5:0.5) was used as a mobile phase while a silica gel 60 F254 was used as a stationary phase (Kemenkes RI, 2017).

#### Determination of total flavonoid content

Total flavonoid content was determined by UV-Vis spectrophotometry (Shimadzu®) using a quercetin standard. The standard solutions were prepared at 5, 10, 25, 50, 75, and 100 mg/L dissolved in ethanol with the addition of 0.1 mL of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub> and 1 mL of 1M Na-acetate prior to measurement at a wavelength of 438 nm. For sample analysis, 0.5 mL of each concentrated ethanolic extract was added with 1.5 mL of ethanol, 0.1 mL of 10% AlCl<sub>3</sub>, and 1 mL of 1M Na-acetate and was read at the

same wavelength as the standards (Nerdy et al., 2022). The flavonoid content was calculated and expressed as quercetin equivalent (mg QE/g) with the equation (2) (Kemenkes RI, 2017):

$$\text{Total Flavonoid Content (TFC)} = \frac{C_p \times \frac{A_u}{A_p} \times V \times f}{W} \times 100\% \dots\dots\dots(2)$$

- C<sub>p</sub> = concentration of standard solution
- A<sub>u</sub> = absorbance of sample
- A<sub>p</sub> = absorbance of standard solution
- V = volume of sample solution before dilution
- f = dilution factor of standard solution
- W = weight of sample

#### Preparation of ointment of ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL Ointment)

An ointment is generally a favorable topical preparation for diabetic ulcer treatment (Agharazi et al., 2022; Salahi et al., 2024; Zhao et al., 2023). In this study, the EERBL ointments were prepared through a fusion method. Firstly, methylparaben, propylene glycol, sodium lauryl sulfate, and water were mixed in an evaporating porcelain dish and heated at 60°C until partly melted; this mixture was referred to as mixture one. Additionally, a second mixture consisting of white vaseline, propylparaben, and stearyl alcohol was prepared and subjected to the same temperature as the previous mixture; this mixture was referred to as mixture two. Subsequently, mixture one was introduced into mixture two; both mixtures were homogeneously mixed. Ultimately, the EERBL was added and constantly stirred using a stirring rod until a homogenous ointment was formed (USP, 2007). All ointments were prepared according to the following formulations (Table 1).

**Table 1. Formulations of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf ointments**

Ingredients	Ointment Formulations (gram)		
	F1	F2	F3
Ethanolic extract of Red Betel Leaf (EERBL)	10	20	30
Methyl paraben	0.025	0.025	0.025
Propyl paraben	0.015	0.015	0.015
Sodium Lauryl Sulfate	0.7	0.7	0.7
Propyleneglycol	8.5	8,5	8.5
Stearyl alcohol	15	15	15
White vaseline	20	20	20
Aquadest (distilled water)	ad 100	ad 100	ad 100

#### Characterization of ointment

The EERBL ointments were subjected to characterization for pH, spreadability, adhesivity, and viscosity (Maulina & Sugihartini, 2015). Firstly, the pH was measured by mixing 2.5 grams of the ointment with 50 mL of aquadest. The mixture was then heated up to 60-70°C until homogeneously mixed, following measurement with a digital pH meter. Secondly, the spreadability was determined by applying 0.5 grams of the ointments onto a round glass plate, with a second glass plate was placed on top of it. A weight of 100 grams was allowed to remain on the top glass plate for one minute. The diameter of the circle was measured after the ointment was widely spread. Thirdly, the adhesivity was conducted by placing one gram of the ointment on a glass plate that was subsequently covered with another glass plate, with a weight of one kg was added on top of it for 5 minutes. Afterward, the squeezed glass was released, and the adhesiveness was evaluated by measuring the time required to

**Commented [H1]:** Ini kalo satuannya ini, rumus di bawah perlu disesuaikan, karena rumus itu dalam persen

separate both glasses using a stopwatch. Lastly, the viscosity test was carried out using Rheosys Merlin VR11 (Scientex®) using a cone and plate 2°/30mm spindle with 0.5 gram of sample of each run.

#### Antibacterial activity

Nutrient Broth (NB) media was used to propagate pure cultures of DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* (ATCC 25923) and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (ATCC 27853). The cultured media was placed into an incubator (Binder® Series E/B 28) for 24-hour incubation. Following this, 0.9% NaCl was mixed with bacterial cultures on the NB media, and the level of turbidity was standardized using Mc Farland 0.5. The standardized turbidity level bacterial cultures were uniformly swabbed on the surface of a Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) media and allowed to sit for 5 minutes. The antibacterial activity assay was performed by means of the well-diffusion method by filling the reservoirs in the MHA media with 0.02 grams of 10%, 20%, and 30% EERBL ointments (F1, F2, and F3), 2% mupirocin ointment (positive control) and placebo (ointment base only). The MHA media was incubated at 37°C for 24 hours. After incubation, a calliper was used to measure the formation of the inhibition zone diameter (Balouiri et al., 2016; Blando et al., 2019; Puspita et al., 2019).

#### Data Analysis

The data collected from this study were statistically analyzed utilizing the one-way ANOVA and the Tukey test with a significance level of  $p < 0.05$ .

## RESULT AND DISCUSSION

### Characterization of EERBL

The concentrated ethanolic extract of red betel leaves (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) (EERBL) was subjected to characterization, including organoleptic properties, % yield, and water content. The crude extracts were observed as a thick, dark brown-reddish-colored extract with a bitter flavor and typical aroma of red betel leaf. Furthermore, the total weight of the crude concentrated EERBL was 98.12 grams from 350 grams of powdered red betel leaf used, resulting in a yield of 28.03%. Subsequently, the water content was also determined to ensure the risk of potential bacterial or microorganism growth during the storage is low, thereby not affecting the quality and safety of the product. The water content was  $7.51\% \pm 0.286$ , as determined by the toluene distillation method (Kemenkes RI, 2017). All these evaluated characteristics were in line with the compendial criteria suggested in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II and are presented in Table 2.

**Table 2. Attributes of crude ethanolic extract derived from red betel leaves**

Parameter	Result	Requirement*
Color	Dark brown-reddish	Dark brown-reddish
Taste	Bitter	Bitter
Odor	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf	Distinctive aroma of red betel leaf
Yield	28.03%	> 17%
Water Content	$7.51\% \pm 0.286^{**}$	< 10%

\*Compendial requirement as described in the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II for red betel leaf extract

\*\*data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3)

### Phytochemical screening & total flavonoid content

Preliminary phytochemical screenings were performed on the extracts prior to ointment preparations (Puspita et al., 2019). According to the Indonesian Herbal Pharmacopeia Edition II, the red betel leaf extract is known to contain flavonoids with quercetin used as a marker to identify the flavonoid content in the extract (Kemenkes RI, 2017). The results suggest the presence of flavonoids, alkaloids, phenols, steroids, triterpenoids, and tannins with an absence of saponins in the extracts as screened through a qualitative phytochemical screening test (Table 3). These findings are in line with

*Effects of Piper crocatum ... (Nuari et al.,)*

previous studies (Heliawati et al., 2022; Puspita et al., 2019; Suri et al., 2021). In addition, a thin-layer chromatography test on the extract was also performed to ensure the flavonoid content as compared to the quercetin standard with a theoretical Rf value of 0.38 for identification (Kemenkes RI, 2017). The result showed that both the extract and the quercetin standard had the same Rf value at around 0.38, establishing the presence of quercetin in the extract (Figure 1). Ultimately, total flavonoid content (TFC) in EERBL was also determined via UV-Vis spectrophotometry using a quercetin standard with a result of  $78.14 \pm 7.63$  mg QE/g (n=5).



**Figure 1.** Thin layer chromatography analysis of quercetin standard (A) vs extract sample (B) with identical RF values, suggesting the presence of flavonoid quercetin in the ethanolic extract

**Commented [H2]:** Gambarnya dibuat berdiri saja, biar ga confuse

**Commented [H3]:** Tulis extractnya apa??

**Table 1.** Preliminary phytochemical screenings on the red betel leaf ethanolic extracts

Secondary Metabolite	Test	Result
Flavonoids	Bate Smite-Metcalfe's test	+
	NaOH 10%	+
Alkaloids	Deagendorff's test	+
	Mayer's test	+
Saponins	Frothing test	-
Tannins	Ferric Chloride test	+
Triterpenoids	Liebermann's test	+
Steroids	Liebermann's test	+
Phenols	Ferric Chloride test	+

Key = + present, - absent

Deleted: 3

### Preparation and characterization of ointment

Three different formulations were employed for preparing the hydrophilic-based ointments with variations on the concentration of ethanolic extract of red betel leaf (EERBL): 10%, 20%, and 30%, respectively. A hydrophilic base was selected as the ointment base due to its ability to facilitate good absorption while providing optimum viscosity for better spreadability and adhesivity to the skin upon application (Shigeyama et al., 1999).

**Table 4.** Characterization data of the red betel leaf ethanolic extracts ointments

Parameter	F1	F2	F3
pH	$4.81 \pm 0.14^a$	$5.12 \pm 0.21^{ab}$	$5.28 \pm 0.18^b$
Spreadability (cm)	$5.52 \pm 0.24^a$	$4.89 \pm 0.19^b$	$4.37 \pm 0.19^c$
Adhesivity (seconds)	$32.43 \pm 1.8^a$	$54.18 \pm 2.6^b$	$63.71 \pm 1.4^c$
Viscosity (cP)	$8367 \pm 373^a$	$10,453 \pm 910^b$	$13,551 \pm 794^c$

Key: EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaf; data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SD (n=3); values within a row with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test ( $p < 0.05$ )

After preparation, the EERBL ointments were characterized for pH, spreadability, adhesivity, and viscosity. The measured pH of the ointments ranged between 4.81 to 5.28. The spreadability of the ointments was at 4.65 to 5.20 cm, while the adhesivity ranged from 32 to 63 seconds among the three formulations, respectively. Ultimately, the viscosity of the ointments was also evaluated with Rheosys Merlin VR7II (Scientex®) using a cone and plate 2°/30mm spindle with a 0.5 gram sample for each measurement. The data of the ointment's characterization is presented in Table 5.

From Table 4, the pH of the ointments met the criteria of the ideal pH ointment for human skin, which is 4.5-6.5. For spreadability, Formulation 1 showed the highest value with an average spread of 5.22 cm, while for the adhesivity parameter, Formulation 3 had the longest adherence with 63.71 seconds, slightly longer than Formulation 2. The same trend was also observed in the viscosity, where Formulation 3 demonstrated the most viscous ointment with 11,851 cP. The viscosity of all groups was still within the range of compendial viscosity for an ointment, which is around 2000 to 50,000 cP (Anonim, 2020). Consistency of the ointments might be responsible for these findings as a result of different ratios between aqueous and non-aqueous components in each formulation which determines the liquidity of the ointments, leading to different spreadability, adhesivity, and viscosity (Conti-Silva et al., 2018; Herbig et al., 2023). Of the three formulations, Formulation 1 contains the highest amount of water within its formulation, while Formulation 3 is the opposite. This implies that Formulation 1 became easily spread ointment while Formulation 3 was the stickiest and most viscous ointment. Despite these results, all the parameters above follow the ideal criteria for ointments.

#### Antibacterial activity

Previous studies showed that ethanolic fraction of red betel leaf extract was able to exert antimicrobial activity against several bacteria (Candrasari, et al., 2012; Purba et al., 2022; Puspita et al., 2019; Rachmawaty et al., 2018). Therefore, this study focuses on evaluating the antimicrobial activity of the EERBL with different concentrations within the ointment. The antibacterial activity of the EERBL ointments was evaluated by means of determining the inhibition zone diameter on the two most common bacteria associated with diabetic foot ulcer (DFU): *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Sadeghpour et al., 2019). Mupirocin ointment was used as a positive control as it is widely used clinically as a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic for ulcers (Dallo et al., 2023; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). The diameter zone of inhibition was examined using the well-diffusion method. Data on the diameter of the inhibition zone is displayed in Table 5.

**Table 5. Inhibition zone diameter of the red betel leaf ethanolic extracts ointments**

Formulation	Diameter of Inhibition Zone (mm)	
	<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i>	<i>Pseudomonas aeruginosa</i>
F1 (10% EERBL)	10.4 ± 0.60 <sup>a</sup>	8.1 ± 0.40 <sup>a</sup>
F2 (20% EERBL)	12.6 ± 0.63 <sup>b</sup>	9.8 ± 0.35 <sup>b</sup>
F3 (30% EERBL)	14.8 ± 0.98 <sup>c</sup>	12.7 ± 0.55 <sup>c</sup>
Positive Control*	36.4 ± 0.65 <sup>d</sup>	32.1 ± 0.93 <sup>d</sup>
Placebo**	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>	0 ± 0 <sup>e</sup>

Key = EERBL = Ethanolic Extract of Red Betel Leaves; \*Mupirocin cream (2%); \*\*ointment base only;

Data are shown as mean ± SD (n=3); values within a column with different superscripts are significantly different according to the Tukey test (p < 0.05).

The antimicrobial activity in this study was determined by the ability to form an inhibition zone in the cultured media after 24-hour incubation. As depicted in Table 5, all placebo groups - containing only ointment base - showed no inhibitory activity, while positive controls exhibited the largest inhibition zone diameter in both groups. This is reasonable since mupirocin is a broad-spectrum topical antibiotic that can clinically constrain a wide range of bacterial growth by blocking bacterial RNA and protein synthesis, including Gram-positive *Staphylococcus aureus* and Gram-negative *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Dallo et al., 2023; Erwin, 2024; Ishikawa & Horii, 2005). In addition, the

formation of an inhibition zone was observed in all EERBL ointment groups. Formulation 1 exhibited a weak antimicrobial activity in both bacteria while Formulation 3 had the largest diameter with a moderate activity against both bacteria. Even though the magnitude of the constrained activity was approximately a third lower than that of the control group, all EERBL ointments (10-30%) were able to exert antimicrobial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, the most common bacteria isolated from diabetic foot ulcer samples (Sadeghpour et al., 2019). The statistical analysis of ANOVA and Tukey test revealed that all groups were significantly different ( $p < 0.05$ ).

As shown in Table 5, the antimicrobial activity is higher with an increase in the concentration of EERBL within the ointments. Such inhibition activity is likely due to the flavonoid content of EERBL in the EERBL ointments. In general, the inhibitory activity of the EERBL ointments against *Staphylococcus aureus* is slightly greater than *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* as evaluated by the inhibition diameter zone. These results are in agreement with other studies that report similar findings (Hartini & Nugroho, 2020; Puspita et al., 2019; Rachmawaty et al., 2018). Flavonoids are effectively able to affect bacterial cell membrane integrity and biofilm formation, leading to bacterial growth suppression (Heliawati et al., 2022; Kaul et al., 2013; Puspita et al., 2019; Shamsudin et al., 2022).

## CONCLUSION

The EERBL ointments exhibit antimicrobial activity by forming an inhibitory zone against DFU-associated bacteria: *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. The EERBL ointment from Formulation 3 - with 30% EERBL content - provides the second-largest inhibition zone diameter after the control group. Diabetic patients with poor blood glucose management are at high risk of acquiring secondary infections that may delay wound closure. Such delay in wound healing may develop minor injuries into diabetic ulcers if not properly treated. Regarding this, therefore, the EERBL ointment is likely to be developed as a candidate for DFU topical treatment as it exerts flavonoid-related antimicrobial activity that may prevent secondary infection, leading to shortened closure of DFU. However, further experiments are needed to evaluate the effectiveness of the EERBL ointment for DFU in diabetic animal models.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors sincerely thank the Institute for Research and Community Service of Universitas Ahmad Dahlan (LPPM-UAD) for providing financial support to this research with reference number PD-064/SP3/LPPM-UAD/VIII/2023.

## REFERENCES

- Agharazi, M., Gazerani, S., & Huntington, M. K. (2022). Topical Turmeric Ointment in the Treatment of Diabetic Foot Ulcers: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Study. *The International Journal of Lower Extremity Wounds*, 15347346221143222. <https://doi.org/10.1177/15347346221143222>
- Anonim. (2020). *Farmakope Indonesia Edisi VI*. Kemenkes RI.
- Balouiri, M., Sadiki, M., & Ibsouda, S. K. (2016). Methods for in vitro evaluating antimicrobial activity: A review. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Analysis*, 6(2), 71–79. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpha.2015.11.005>
- Beulens, J. W. J., Yauw, J. S., Elders, P. J. M., Feenstra, T., Herings, R., Slieker, R. C., Moons, K. G. M., Nijpels, G., & van der Heijden, A. A. (2021). Prognostic models for predicting the risk of foot ulcer or amputation in people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and external validation study. *Diabetologia*, 64(7), 1550–1562.
- Blando, F., Russo, R., Negro, C., De Bellis, L., & Frassinetti, S. (2019). Antimicrobial and antibiofilm activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* of *Opuntia ficus-indica* (L.) Mill. Cladode Polyphenolic Extracts. *Antioxidants (Basel, Switzerland)*, 8(5). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox8050117>
- Candrasari, A., Romas, M., & Astuti, O. (2012). Uji daya antimikroba ekstrak etanol daun sirih merah (*Piper Crocatum* Ruiz & Pav.) Terhadap pertumbuhan *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 6538,

**Commented [H4]:** Ini sebaiknya tidak pakai sebut formula 3, tapi lgs sebut konsentrasinya. Konsentrasi 30% terbaik, namun demikian jika dibandingkan dg .....

- Escherichia coli ATCC 11229 dan Candida albicans ATCC 10231 secara *in vitro*. *Biomedika*, 4(1), 9–16. <https://doi.org/10.23917/biomedika.v4i1.258>
- Chammas, N. K., Hill, R. L. R., & Edmonds, M. E. (2016). Increased mortality in diabetic foot ulcer patients: the significance of ulcer type. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2016, 2879809. <https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/2879809>
- Cho, N. H., Shaw, J. E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Ohlrogge, A. W., & Malanda, B. (2018). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, 138, 271–281. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023>
- Conti-Silva, A. C., Ichiba, A. K. T., Silveira, A. L. da, Albano, K. M., & Nicoletti, V. R. (2018). Viscosity of liquid and semisolid materials: Establishing correlations between instrumental analyses and sensory characteristics. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 49(6), 569–577. <https://doi.org/10.1111/jtxs.12358>
- Dallo, M., Patel, K., & Hebert, A. A. (2023). Topical antibiotic treatment in dermatology. *Antibiotics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 12(2). <https://doi.org/10.3390/antibiotics12020188>
- Datta, P., Chander, J., Gupta, V., Mohi, G. K., & Attri, A. K. (2019). Evaluation of various risk factors associated with multidrug-resistant organisms isolated from diabetic foot ulcer patients. *Journal of Laboratory Physicians*, 11(1), 58–62. [https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP\\_106\\_18](https://doi.org/10.4103/JLP.JLP_106_18)
- Erwin DZ, C. P. (2024). Mupirocin. [Updated 2024 Jan 11]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan. In *StatPearls*. <https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK599499/>
- Farhadi, F., Khameneh, B., Iranshahi, M., & Iranshahy, M. (2019). Antibacterial activity of flavonoids and their structure-activity relationship: An update review. *Phytotherapy Research : PTR*, 33(1), 13–40. <https://doi.org/10.1002/ptr.6208>
- Farmaki, P., Damaskos, C., Garpis, N., Garpis, A., Savvanis, S., & Diamantis, E. (2020). Complications of the Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Current Cardiology Reviews*, 16(4), 249–251. <https://doi.org/10.2174/1573403X1604201229115531>
- Ha, J. H., Jin, H., & Park, J.-U. (2021). Association between socioeconomic position and diabetic foot ulcer outcomes: a population-based cohort study in South Korea. *BMC Public Health*, 21(1), 1395. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11406-3>
- Hartini, Y. S., & Nugroho, L. H. (2020). Antibacterial effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) extract in combination with vancomycin against staphylococcus aureus. *Biodiversitas*, 21(7), 3271–3274. <https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d210750>
- Heliawati, L., Lestari, S., Hasanah, U., Ajiati, D., & Kurnia, D. (2022). Phytochemical Profile of Antibacterial Agents from Red Betel Leaf (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz and Pav) against Bacteria in Dental Caries. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27092861>
- Herbig, M. E., Evers, D.-H., Gorissen, S., & Köllmer, M. (2023). Rational Design of Topical Semi-Solid Dosage Forms-How Far Are We? *Pharmaceutics*, 15(7). <https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics15071822>
- Hidayat, B., Ramadani, R. V., Rudijanto, A., Soewondo, P., Suastika, K., & Siu Ng, J. Y. (2022). Direct Medical Cost of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Its Associated Complications in Indonesia. *Value in Health Regional Issues*, 28, 82–89. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vhri.2021.04.006>
- Hoekstra, M. J., Westgate, S. J., & Mueller, S. (2017). Povidone-iodine ointment demonstrates *in vitro* efficacy against biofilm formation. *International Wound Journal*, 14(1), 172–179. <https://doi.org/10.1111/iwj.12578>
- Ibrahim, N., 'Izzah, Wong, S. K., Mohamed, I. N., Mohamed, N., Chin, K.-Y., Ima-Nirwana, S., & Shuid, A. N. (2018). Wound Healing Properties of Selected Natural Products. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15112360>
- Ishikawa, J., & Horii, T. (2005). Effects of Mupirocin at Subinhibitory Concentrations on Biofilm Formation in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Chemotherapy*, 51(6), 361–362. <https://doi.org/10.1159/000088962>



- Januarti, I. B., Wijayanti, R., Wahyuningsih, S., & Nisa, Z. (2019). Potensi Ekstrak Terpurifikasi Daun Sirih Merah (*Piper crocatum* Ruiz & Pav) Sebagai Antioksidan Dan Antibakteri. *JPSCR: Journal of Pharmaceutical Science and Clinical Research*, 4(2), 60–68. <https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.20961/jpscr.v4i2.27206>
- Jupiter, D. C., Thorud, J. C., Buckley, C. J., & Shibuya, N. (2016). The impact of foot ulceration and amputation on mortality in diabetic patients. I: From ulceration to death, a systematic review. *International Wound Journal*, 13(5), 892–903. <https://doi.org/10.1111/iwj.12404>
- Kaul, K., Tarr, J. M., Ahmad, S. I., Kohner, E. M., & Chibber, R. (2013). *Introduction to Diabetes Mellitus BT - Diabetes: An Old Disease, a New Insight* (S. I. Ahmad (ed.); pp. 1–11). Springer New York. [https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0\\_1](https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-5441-0_1)
- Kemenkes RI. (2017). *Farmakope Herbal Indonesia Edisi 2*. 561.
- Li, Y., Ju, S., Li, X., Li, W., Zhou, S., Wang, G., Cai, Y., & Dong, Z. (2022). Characterization of the microenvironment of diabetic foot ulcers and potential drug identification based on scRNA-seq. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 13, 997880. <https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.997880>
- Matheson, E. M., Bragg, S. W., & Blackwelder, R. S. (2021). Diabetes-related foot infections: diagnosis and treatment. *American Family Physician*, 104(4), 386–394.
- Maulina, L., & Sugihartini, N. (2015). Formulasi gel ekstrak etanol kulit buah Manggis (*Garcinia mangostana* L.) dengan variasi gelling agent sebagai sediaan luka bakar. *Pharmaciana*, 5(1), 43–52. <https://doi.org/10.12928/pharmaciana.v5i1.2285>
- Navirius, F. J., Pamudji, G., & Herowati, R. (2023). Effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) leaf ethanol extract on increased creatinine and ureum levels in white rat wistar strain induced Streptozotocin-Nikotinamid. *Media Farmasi: Jurnal Ilmu Farmasi*, 20(2), 57. <https://doi.org/10.12928/mf.v20i2.25457>
- Nerdy, N., Barus, B. R., El-Matury, H. J., Ginting, S., Zebua, N. F., & Bakri, T. K. (2022). Comparison of flavonoid content and antioxidant activity in calyces of two roselle varieties (*Hibiscus sabdariffa* L.). *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 956(1). <https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/956/1/012001>
- Purba, M. R., Wijaya, S., & Kasuma, A. (2022). Potential of red betel leaf extract (*Piper crocatum*) and Siwak (*Salvadora persica*) against *Staphylococcus Aureus* bacteria. *Bioscientia Medicina : Journal of Biomedicine and Translational Research*, 6(5), 1728–1731. <https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.37275/bsm.v6i5.504>
- Puspita, P. J., Safithri, M., & Sugiharti, N. P. (2019). Antibacterial activities of Sirih Merah (*Piper crocatum*) leaf extracts. *Current Biochemistry*, 5(3), 1–10. <https://doi.org/10.29244/cb.5.3.1-10>
- Rachmawaty, F. J., Akhmad, M. M., Pranacipta, S. H., Nabila, Z., & Muhammad, A. (2018). Optimasi ekstrak etanol daun Sirih Merah (*Piper Crocatum*) sebagai antibakteri terhadap bakteri *Staphylococcus Aureus*. *Mutiara Medika: Jurnal Kedokteran Dan Kesehatan*, 18(1), 13–19. <https://doi.org/10.18196/mm.180109>
- Rahma, W. (2022). Uji aktivitas ekstrak etanol daun Sirih Merah (*Piper crocatum*) terhadap bakteri *Propionibacterium acnes*. *Jurnal Mahasiswa Kesehatan*, 4(1), 53–61. <https://doi.org/10.30737/jumakes.v4i1.2033>
- Rubio, J. A., Jiménez, S., & Lázaro-Martínez, J. L. (2020). Mortality in patients with diabetic foot ulcers: causes, risk factors, and their association with evolution and severity of ulcer. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9(9). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm9093009>
- Sadeghpour, F. H., Zakrzewski, M., Vickery, K., Armstrong, D. G., & Hu, H. (2019). Bacterial diversity of diabetic foot ulcers: current status and future perspectives. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 8(11). <https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm8111935>
- Safithri, M., Andrianto, D., Gaisani Arda, A., Hawa Syaifie, P., Mardia Ningsih Kaswati, N., Mardiyati, E., Ramadhan, D., Miftah Jauhar, M., Wahyu Nugroho, D., Anggraini Septaningsih, D., Tria Melati, L., Hudayanti, M., Sarah, E., Alifibi Putera Irsal, R., & Taufiq Rochman, N. (2023). The effect of red betel (*Piper crocatum*) water fraction as tyrosinase inhibitors: In vitro, molecular

- docking, and molecular dynamics studies. *Journal of King Saud University - Science*, 35(10), 102933. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jksus.2023.102933>
- Salahi, P., Nasiri, M., Yazdanpanah, L., Khosravi, S., & Amini, M. R. (2024). Short-term effect of dressing with Dermaheal ointment in the treatment of diabetic foot ulcer: A double-blinded randomized controlled clinical trial. *Health Science Reports*, 7(2), e1868. <https://doi.org/10.1002/hsr2.1868>
- Setyawati, A., Sri, M., Wahyuningsih, H., Aris, D., Nugrahaningsih, A., Effendy, C., & Ibeneme, S. (2023). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav as a commonly used typically medicinal plant from Indonesia: What do we actually know about it? scoping review. *Indonesian Contemporary Nursing Journal*, 7(2), 61–78.
- Setyawati, A., Wahyuningsih, M. S. H., Nugrahaningsih, D. A. A., Effendy, C., Fneish, F., & Fortwengel, G. (2021). Piper crocatum Ruiz & Pav. ameliorates wound healing through p53, E-cadherin and SOD1 pathways on wounded hyperglycemia fibroblasts. *Saudi Journal of Biological Sciences*, 28(12), 7257–7268. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sjbs.2021.08.039>
- Shamsudin, N. F., Ahmed, Q. U., Mahmood, S., Ali Shah, S. A., Khatib, A., Mukhtar, S., Alsharif, M. A., Parveen, H., & Zakaria, Z. A. (2022). Antibacterial effects of flavonoids and their structure-activity relationship study: a comparative interpretation. *Molecules (Basel, Switzerland)*, 27(4). <https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27041149>
- Shigeyama, M., Ohgaya, T., Kawashima, Y., Takeuchi, H., & Hino, T. (1999). Mixed base of hydrophilic ointment and purified lanolin to improve the drug release rate and absorption of water of minocycline hydrochloride ointment for treatment of bedsores. *Chemical & Pharmaceutical Bulletin*, 47(6), 744–748. <https://doi.org/10.1248/cpb.47.744>
- Suri, M. A., Azizah, Z., & Asra, R. (2021). A Review: Traditional Use, Phytochemical and Pharmacological Review of Red Betel Leaves (Piper Crocatum Ruiz & Pav). *Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Research and Development*, 9(1), 159–163. <https://doi.org/10.22270/ajprd.v9i1.926>
- Taddese, S. M., Gurji, T. B., Abdulwuhab, M., & Aragaw, T. J. (2021). Wound healing activities of hydromethanolic crude extract and solvent fractions of bersama abyssinica leaves in mice. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: ECAM*, 2021, 9991146. <https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9991146>
- Tanoey, J., & Becher, H. (2021). Diabetes prevalence and risk factors of early-onset adult diabetes: results from the Indonesian family life survey. *Global Health Action*, 14(1), 2001144. <https://doi.org/10.1080/16549716.2021.2001144>
- USP. (2007). *Hydrophilic Ointment: In United States Pharmacopeia Convention Committee of Revision (Ed.), United States Pharmacopeia (29-NF4 ed.)*. In united states pharmacopeial convention committee of revision (Ed.).
- Yan, X., Song, J.-F., Zhang, L., & Li, X. (2022). Analysis of risk factors for multidrug-resistant organisms in diabetic foot infection. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 22(1), 46. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12902-022-00957-0>
- Zhao, Y., Dai, X., Sun, X., Zhang, Z., Gao, H., & Gao, R. (2023). Combination of Shengji ointment and bromelain in the treatment of exposed tendons in diabetic foot ulcers: study protocol for a non-blind, randomized, positive control clinical trial. *BMC Complementary Medicine and Therapies*, 23(1), 359. <https://doi.org/10.1186/s12906-023-04128-z>

5. Paper Accepted for Publication (17 Juli 2024)

---

**[Pharmaciana] Editor Decision**

2 pesan

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id>

17 Juli 2024 pukul 09.37

Balas Ke: "apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si" &lt;citra.arianie@gmail.com&gt;

Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari &lt;yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id&gt;

Cc: Mila Abusri &lt;mila2100023042@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Wahyu Yuntari &lt;wahyu2100023141@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Oca Maharani Tryadi &lt;oca2100023140@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana &lt;fiarriescha2100023190@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Pharmaciana, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study".

Our decision is to accept the submission. Thank you.

Best regards,

apt. Citra Ariani Edityaningrum, M.Si

Fakultas Farmasi, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan

Phone 0811267390

[citra.arianie@gmail.com](mailto:citra.arianie@gmail.com)

Pharmaciana

<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

---

**Prof.Dr. apt. Nurkhasanah Mahfudh,M.Si** <nurkhasanah@pharm.uad.ac.id>

17 Juli 2024 pukul 13.19

Balas Ke: "Aning Setiya Rini,S.T" &lt;admin@pharmaciana.pharm.uad.ac.id&gt;

Kepada: Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari &lt;yudha.nuari@pharm.uad.ac.id&gt;

Cc: Mila Abusri &lt;mila2100023042@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Wahyu Yuntari &lt;wahyu2100023141@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Oca Maharani Tryadi &lt;oca2100023140@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;, Fiarriescha Marra Ardhiana &lt;fiarriescha2100023190@webmail.uad.ac.id&gt;

Mr Yudha Rizky Nuari:

We have reached a decision regarding your submission to Pharmaciana, "Effects of Piper crocatum Leaf Extract-based Ointments on Bacteria Associated with Diabetic Ulcers: An In Vitro Study".

Our decision is to: Galley Proof

Dear author,

Attached are the galley proof and galley revision forms. Would you please design to look at the article, whether by the last edit, the writing of the letters, or the address of the author's agency? If there are still things that are not appropriate, please write them in the revision form, and we will fix it. We give a maximum of 2 days from when we send this email ([pharmaciana@pharm.uad.ac.id](mailto:pharmaciana@pharm.uad.ac.id)). If we do not receive a confirmation, we will publish it according to this galley. Thank you

Aning Setiya Rini,S.T

Fakultas Farmasi, Universitas Ahmad Dahlan


[admin@pharmaciana.pharm.uad.ac.id](mailto:admin@pharmaciana.pharm.uad.ac.id)

Pharmaciana

<http://www.journal.uad.ac.id/index.php/Pharmaciana>

---

**3 lampiran**

 **47.Invoice Pharmaciana.appt\_Yudha.pdf**  
1178K

 **Galley REvision Form.docx**  
33K

 **Galley\_Yudha.pdf**  
403K